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Strategic Report

The Directors submit their Strategic Report for Markel International Holdings Limited ("the Company”) and its
subsidiaries {"the Group™ for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Review of the business

Thie Cunipany was incorporated on 17 April 2018, The Company is a UK based intermediate holding company
fully owned by Marke! International Holdings (Delaware) Limited ("MIHD"). The Company intends te continue
as a holding company. Its ultimate holding cempany 1s Markal Group Inc. ("Markel™), which is incorporated in
Virginia, in the Unitad States and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Markel’s international operating
division, ("MINT"}, consists of the underwriting units specified in the Business Profiles and Units, set out on
page 3, which are managed from London. The business is written through Markel International Insurance
Company Limited {"MIICL™), Markel Syndicate 30G0 as well as other Markel entities,

The Company previously took advantage of the exemption under s401 of the Companies Act 2006 to not
oraduce consolidated financial statements. For the year end 31st December 2022, the Company has decided
to waive the exemption and therefore these are the first set of financial statements produced on a
consolidatad basis. Unaudited prior-year consolidated numbers have been included as comparatives.

The principal operating activity of the Group is underwriting of insurance and reinsurance business and the
principal operating subsidiaries are listed below:

MIICL transacts general insurance fram its offices in London and other UK locations and its branch operation
in Switzerand, in addition to overseas operations in Dubai. Caunce O'Hara & Company Limited and Markel
{UK) Limited also underwrite on behalf of MIICL through their UK branch network, MIICL halds Surplus Lines
Licences and is an accredited reinsurer in most US States. It s also able to write general insurance in a
number of othar overseas territories.

Markel Capital Limited ("MCAP"} carries out the business of underwriting insurance and reinsurance business
at Uoyd’s on a limited liability basis by virtue of its participation on Markel Syndicate 3000 {"the Syndicate™}
managed by a fellow subsidiary of the Group, Markel Syndicate Management Limited ("MSM"}), and its
participation on the syndicate managed by Asta Managing Agency Limited {["Asta™) on its 2022 Year of
Account ("™YOA"). Since the 2002 YOA, MCAP has provided 100% of the capital for the Syndicate. The table
below sets out the Company’s capacity on the Syndicate for the last three years:

YOA YOA YOA
£m 2022 2021 2020
Markel Syndicate 3000 500 480 475

MCAP entered into a quota share reinsurance agreement with Market Bermuda Limited ("MBL") to cede 80%
of its participation on the Syndicate's 2016 to 2022 YOA, effective from 1 January of each respective year.
Following the closure of the Syndicate’s 2020 YOA MBL shall pay the Company its 80% share of the loss in
acordante with the agreement which will be settled during 2023, During the vear MBL settled its share of
the loss on the 2019 YOA following its closure at 31 December 2021,

MCAP provided capitai by way of Funds at Lloyds {"FAL") for Volante Capital Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd for
Syndicate 1699, managed by Asta for its 2022 YOA. MCAP acts as a corporate member and has a 25.75%
participation on the 2022 YOA which took effect from 1st January 2022. Volante is backed by Nephila Capital.
During 2018 Markel acquired 100% of the equity of Nephila Holding Ltd.

MCAP entered info a quota share reinsurance agreement with Horsashoe Re Limited to cede 100% of its
participation on Syndicate 1699's 2022 YOA, effective from 1 January 2022,

Markel International Holdings Limited 2
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The Group aiso has a number of other regulated companies. Markel Protection Limited provides claims run-
off services. Markel Law LLP Is a legai services practice. Galleon Marine Inswrance Agency Limited is an
underwiiling  agency, acting as a financial mtermediary, focused on  liabiity insurance for marine
professionals and legistics providers. Caunce O'Hara & Company Limited is an insurance broker, providing
business insurance protection for freelance professionals and self-employed smail business owners. FSB
Insurance Service Limited is part ownad by the National Federation of Self Employed & Small Businesses
uimited {"the FSB™), and is a joint venture relationship of which the Group owns 70% of the company. It is a
general insurance broker providing an insurance advice ling to the members of the FSB. During 2023 the
Group has reduced its ownership of FSB o 51%.

Markel Consultancy Services Ltd is an additional trading entity that provides taxation advice and consultancy
services to SMEs, and claims run-off services.

The Group also includas a number of Service Companies in the UK, India, Dubai, Singapore, Labuan and
Hong Kong, where the principal activity is the payment of costs associated with the other entities of the
Group.

Business profile and units

The Group operates eight underwriting units, namsly Marine and Energy; Professional and Financial Risk;
Equine and Livestock; Cyber; Trade Credit, Political Risk and Surety; Reinsurance; Markel Spediaity; and
National Markets.

Marine and Energy

Marine coverage includes primary and excass coverage for liability, huil and war, terrorism, specie and cargo
risks werldwide, handling a comprehensive range of risks for multinational companies, national industries and
private individuals. The liability account offers a range of traditional marine liability cover as well as ports and
terminals, marine trades, and energy offshore and onshore coverages. The hull and war account offers a full
range of products on a worldwide basis including marine war, specialist tonnage, builders risks, mortgagees
interest and port risks. The terrorism account provides protection against losses directly caused by acts of
war, terrorism and political viclence, and losses sustained in the aftermath of an active assailant or hostage
event. The specie account includes a range of cover for fine art, specie, jewellers' block, and cash in transit,
on a worldwide basis. The cargo account comprises a broad portfolio of transit and storage risk covering
most industries on a global basis.

Energy offers coverage on a worldwide basis for all aspects of upstream, downstream and midstream oil and
gas activities. Coverage includes business interruption or loss of production income, construction of energy
related structures, control of wells and physical damage to installations., The Group also offers coverage for
renewable energy sources including coverage for the full life-cycle of cnshore and offshore wind farms and
solar photovoitaic installations, from procurement to construction to the completed operations.

Professional and Financial Risks

The Professional and Financial Risks team provides cover on a worldwide basis, This feam underwrites
professional indemnity, entertainment, financial institutions insurance, commercial directors’ and officers'
liability {"D&O™), financial technology cover, technology and media cover and warranty and indemnity.

The professional indemnity account services most core, regulated and miscellaneous professions which
include architects and engineers, insurance brokers, recruitment agents and more. The entertainment team
writes a broad book of film and media insurance, Advertising agents' insurance, commarcial producers'
insurance and film production insurance are the mainstays of the book. It also offers both employers' and
public liability for companies involved in film shoots. Financial institutions insurance can provide cover on a
stand-alona basis or as a blended package to include bankers blanket bond, professional indemnity and D&O,
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depending on the client's requirements. The cover is provided on a worldwide basis. Commercial D&O offer
market leading products which provide a wide range of coverage to ensure protection for directors and
officers of companies of all types and sizes. It wovers companies in the FTSE 100 and the financial services
sector along with non-financial industries as well. Financial technology provides cover for a range of fintech
companias, including those offering gigital banking, money transfer, trading, investments, lending, account
information services, and payment initiation services. The modular polictes give clients the flexibility to
choose the covers that suit them, including professional liability, D&O liability, theft and cyber liability, and
loss. Technology and media provides madular cover for clients in the technology and telecommunications
field, specialising in madia, film, telovision, patwil/intelleclual property nsurance, as well as information
technology, telecommunications and cyber/privacy risks. Warranty and indemnity provides cover to clients in
mergers and acquisitions, including both funds and corporations. It covers transactions across most sectors
and specialise in professional servicas, finandial institutions, technology, media, consumer and energy.

Equine and Livestock

The equine account offers a wide portfolio of products including bloodstock and equine liability 1o suit a
bread range of risks, from farge stud farms to individual horses. The livestock account provides a wide range
of cover including farm combined, mortality, disease and business interruption across farm, zoo and other
animal interests.

Cyber

The Markel Cyber 360 policy is a standalone primary cyber insurance product. Key coverages include privacy
breach notification, extortion costs cover, regulatory investigations and fines, cyber and privacy lability, and
E-media.

Trade Credit, Political Risk and Surety

The trade credit, political risk and surety teams have extensive experience and knowledge of commerdial
counterparty and country risks across a wide variety of trade sectors and markets, providing support with
traditonal and bespoke surety solutions for our clients.

The trade cradit team specializes in snsurance solutions with a focus on risk management, providing
insurance coverage to help protect businesses. Coverage includes prepayment cover, insolvency and default,
trade finance sclutions, captive reinsurance, syndicated co-insurance selutions and financial institutions. The
political risk team works with clients to manage their cross-border portfolios and overseas investments with
tallored, specialist policies. The key clients include financial institutions, corporates, exporters, and traders.
The account has a broad range of coverage induding insolvency or default by either a public or privately
owned entity, licence cancellation, aircraft and vessel repossession, mortgage rights insurance and curréncy
inconvertibility and exchange transfer. The surety account provides a range of bonds and guarantees that
support clients with their contractual obligations. They support dients with traditional and bespoke surety
solutions. While embedded within construction, surety bonds can be utilized across a wide variety of trade
sector and international markets. Bonds and guarantees can provide capital-efficient solutions and assist with
working capital management.

Reinsurance

This unit includes accident and health treaty, international casualty treaty and specialty treaty business,

The accident and health treaty account offers catastrophe reinsurance covering personal accident, life,
medical and workers compensation. In most countrizs, full terrorism coverage can alse be provided, in
addition to traditional exposures.

The casualty treaty team underwrites a diversified account of liability business, including general,
professional, transactional, environmental, healthcare and automobile liability. Specialty treaty reinsurance

Markel International Holdings Limitad 4
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provides accident and health, agriculture, aviation and space, credit, marine and energy, mortgage, political
risk and ancillary perils, surety, terrorism, workers compensation and whole account coverage,

Markel Specialty

Markel Spenialty s focused on large accounts and complex risks, providing casualty, professional and
managemant liability, marine and property coverage for hoth privately-held companies and publicly-traded
companies.

National Markets

The UK National Markets unit offers @ full range of professional liability products, incuding professional
mdermnity, directars’ and officers” hability and employment practices liability. In addition, coverage is
provided for small to medium-sized commercial property risks on both a stand-alone and package basis. The
branch offices grovide insureds and brokers with direct access to decision-making underwriters who possess
specialised knowledge of their local markets, The unit aiso underwrites certain niche liability products such as
coverages for social welfare organisations, It also sells and underwrites insurance products which provide
protection against legal expenses and other orofessional fees incurred by clients as a result of lagal actions
and HMRC investigations.

in Canada, Markel Canada Limited {"Markel Canada"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Markel, underwrites a
diverse portfolio of property and casualty coverages for Canadian domiciled insureds, which is placed through
Syndicate 3000. Markel Canada provides casualty, environmental liability, professional and financial risks,
Markel connect, property package, life sciences liability, security and protection industry Hability, Markel care
and Markel play.

Results and performance

The results of the Group for the year, as setf out on pages 23 to 25 show a loss on ordinary activities before
taxation of $133m (2021, profit of $143m}. Shareholder's funds as at 31 Decemnber 2022 were $704m (2021,
$778m).

The Group reported an underlying underwriting profit of $19m for the year (2021, profit of $68m). This
represents g combined ratio of 98.1% (2021, 91.5%). The underwriting result has been adversely impacted
by $21m of losses in relation to the Ukraine and Russia conflict, and $1m of losses in relation to Hurricane
Ian in 2022. while none of these catastrophe losses individually or in total exceeded the Group's risk appetite
for market avents of this size, they contributed 2.3% to the combined ratio,

These losses were offset by a release from prior year raserves of $81.0m {2021, $62.7m). Included within
this is an additional $32m of reserve strengthening in response to the high inflation environment currently
experienced, This overall release is a result of more favourable c¢laims development than originally
anticipater!.

Gross written premiums of $1,952m for the year represent an increase on prior year of 26.3%, driven by
strong rate increasas as well as new business.

The loss on investments of $186m (2021, gain of 371m} comprises unrealised losses on the equity portfolio

of $22/m, due to current equity market conditions, partially offset by investment income of $35m and net
realised gains of $6m.
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n

Income Statement 2021 2022
$m $m

Gross written premiums 1,546 1,952
Neb written prem ums as’ 1,083
Retartion (ate (1 5517 55.5%
Net earned premiums 804 980
Underwriting resuit 68 19
Net lass and LAE ratio (23 50.7%, 62.9%
et expense ratio (3 40.8% 35,2%;
Combined ratio 91.5% 98.1%s
Investment retuin 71 (L86)
Investment yield 2.4 (5.1)%
Profit/{loss) an ordinary activities (1) 143 {133)
Statement of Financiat Position 2021 2022
e e e e $m e _____%m

Financial investments 2,996 3,059
Reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding 1.254 1,204
Gross clarrs cutstanding 3,103 3,282
Net claims outstanding 1,849 2,078
778 704

Shareholder's Equity

1, retertion rate s calculated as net sr Hen premigng f grogs smdten premiums
©20 net loss ang LAE rato s cakeulated as nut

17 net expense ratin s salculates as nat aperabieg aXDES085
‘b praftiliosst or ordiraty achvinies 1< 2uusl 1o prott oetore <axation for all vears

Ircarred ;o ret earred premusmns
net =arned premusms

Financial success 1s measured by growth in shareholder's equity over time subject to the payment of
dividends. This reflects the impact of both underwriting and investment performance and is consistent with
Markel’s key financial goal of building shareholder value, Underwriting performance is measured by
underwriting result and combined ratio, whilst investment performance is measured by total investment

return,
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Business environment and future developments

With disciplined underwriting ang its strong finandal condition the Group s in an excellent position to
capitalise on gpportunities as they arise. The Group will continue to apply Markel's underwriting discipline of
underwriting for profit rather than volume and, accordingly, will decline business where the rates are not
acceptable. The Group will continue tc look to develop new lines of business and markets, within the
parameters of the overall underwriting strategy.

The Group has reacted to the current high inflation environment by strengthening its loss reserves,

The Group invests in high-quality corporate, government and municipal bonds, as well as a diverse equity
portfolio and plans to continue this investment strategy in 2023.

Going concern

The Directurs do not expect to change or cease operations in the foresesabie future, MIHL has provided a
guarantee to a number of subsidiaries, listed in note 16, in respect of the financial year 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022, This guarantee has the effect that:

1. The parent quarantees ail outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary comparnies are subject at the end
of the financial year to which the guarantee relates, until they are satisfied in full; and

2. The guarantee 1s enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom the subsidiary
company is liable in respect of those liabilities.

Based on the Company’s operational resilience and financial resources, the Directors have reascnable
expectation that the Company will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The Group’s primary soeurces of income are MIICL and the Syndicate. The Directors have continued to review
the capital position, business plans, liquidity and operational resilience of these entities. The capital and
liquidity position is subject to internal stress testing and the entities have also taken several underwriting
acticns on its future business. Within the Syndicate, the 2023 year of account has been established at an
increased stamp capacity and the Directors expect to estatlish a 2024 year of account, and are not aware of
any reason why this will not be possible. They have also concluded that the Syndicate’s financial position
means that this is realistic. Where there are any short term liguidity reguirements there is support from
Markel and during 2022, Markel Group Inc. made available a loan facility to Syndicate 3000.

The Diracters have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, the Directors have identified no material uncertainties
that cast doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the
date of approval of the Finandial Statements (“the going concern period”).

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company's main risk exposure is to financial risk through its investment in its subsidiary company,
Markel Capital Holdings Limited ("MCH™), The impact of the investment in subsidiaries is set out in note 16 to
these consolidated financial statements. The Company entrusts the Board of Directors, and associated
governance committees, of each of the subsidiaries of MCH with the management of the Groups key risks.
Risks are grouped under the following categories:

= Underwriting Risk » Liguidity Risk

+ Raserving Risk « Capital Risk

s Asset Risk » Operational Risk
» Credit Risk

7 Markel International Hoidings Limited
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There are currently 30 risks in the risk register that are applicable to the insurance operations of the Group,
A formal review hy the Risk and Capital Committee aiul Lhe Board ot Directors {"the Board") occurs at least
annuaily to ensure that the risk register identifies all the risks to which the Group is exposed, Key controls
are ldentified to mitigate each risk and quarterly confirmation is sought from the owners of these controls
that they are in place and are aperating effectively. The risk and capital management note (note 3 of these
Financial Statements} provides a detailed explanation of the above risk categories.

The sk arising from inflation and the econuiny’s and insurance industry’s response to it form a key
consideration going forward. Inflation risks in the current environment are influenced by both short-to-mid
term trends (e.q. state of the economy, geopolitical events and cybercriminal activity), as well as by long
term trends (e.q. socal/excess inflation, other frequency events such as impact of new technology, safety
improvements and other severity effects such as repair cost changes out of line with RPI/CPI). We have
considerad recent trends in inflation throughout our strategic planning and business management activities.
The impacts of inflation on the current year of account as well as on subsequent years are continuously
assessed and considered, with actions and measures presented to Risk & Capital Committee but equally to
key committees regarding Claims, Resarving and Finance.

The Risk and Capital Committee meets quarterly to consider Key Risk Indicators and any risk issues that
have arisen. These are summarisad in the Chief Risk Officer’s quarterly report to the Boards of MIICL and

MSHM.

An Own Risk and Solvency Assessment report is produced, at least annually, which is a forward looking
assessment of the risk profile and adequacy of the Company’s capital to meet solvency needs over the
business planning time horzon. The Company 1s in compliance with Solvency 11, The Company has approval
from the PRA to use an internal model to calculate the Solvency Capital Requirement under Solvency 11

The risks arising from climate change, and society’s response Lo it, are multifaceted, occur over an extended
time horizon and are dependent on the severity of the changes in the dimate. These risks continue to
develop and the relative impact will be dependent on a number of aspects such as industry changes, policy
changes and the speed with which those changes are implemented. The Boards of MIICL and MSM has
ultimate responsibility for the Company's envirenmental, sodial and governance ((ESG') strategy which
includes consideration of climate risks. The Company is working as part of the overall Markel Group to
develop our appreach to ESG, and is implementing a plan for managing the financial risks arising from
climate change in line with PRA requirements, Climate change and its associated potential risks are regularly
reviewed by the Risk & Capital Committee and risks are addressed within the underwriting, risk, finance and
audit functions of the Company, although ESG activity is not segregated from the other work of these
functions, but rather embedded in their operations.

Section 172(1) statement

The Directors of the Company have a duty under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way
which they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the
benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so to have regard (amongst other matters) to:

« the likely consequences of any decisions in the long term,

« the interest of the Company's empioyees;

» the need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

» the impact of the Company's aperations on the community and the environment;

» the desirability of the Coempany maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and

= the need to act fairly as between members of the Company.

The summary below sets out how the Company has had regard fo these matters in its position as a UK
holding comoany of a Group (the Group) which includes a requlated insurance entity, Lloyd's carporate
members, and a group service company.

Markel International Heldings Limited 8
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Element of s172 Companies Act

Decisions/interactions

The likely consequences of a
decision in the long term

The Group receives regular reports from Management on the Group's
operating and tinancial performance which help it fo shape decisions for
the long term. Management reporting assists the Group to make
decisions about the allocation of capital and ensuring adeguate reserving
for payment of future claims.

The relevant Boards within the Group annually review and approve
business plans, Including but not limited to the SBF {Lloyd's business
plan) in respect of Markel Syndicate 3000, and the annual business plan
for Markel International Insurance Company Limited, and oversee the
plans” implementation throughout the year.

The Group has a cdear governance structure, with eight Board
Committees reporting to the Boards of Markel Syndicate Management
Limited {"MSM") and Markel International Insurance Company Limited
{("MIICL™), These Committees oversee MSM and MIICL's governance and
include an Audit Committee, Risk & Capital Committee, Reserving
Commuttes, Nominations Committee, and Remuneration Committee
{among ofhers). MSM and MIICL Board and Committee meetings are
held on a quarterly basis. An external Board Effectivenass Review is
commissionad every three vears,

MIICL and MSM fall within the Senior Manager and Certification Regime,
with Senior Managers responsible for the performance of key parts of the
business. Senior Managers attend guarterly Board meetings to report on
progress, and any concerns, in their areas of business,

The Risk Management Framework providaes key risk reporting to the Risk
& Capital Committee on a guarterly basis, having regard to current and
future risks.

The MIICL and MSM Boards have been actively engaged in the
Company’s response to various key risks during the year, induding the
Russia/Ukraina conflict; and economic and sodial inflation. Each of these
decisions is made with the long term success of the business in mind,
and with a focus on the impact to customers, shareholders and other
stakeholders.

The Group also includes a number of other regulated and non-regulated
entities, each with their own directors and governance structures, The
Boards of each of those entities have regard to relevant matters,
including those discussed above and below, when making decisions.

Markel International Holdings Limited
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The interests of the Company’s
employees

Markel employees are critical to the Group’s success. The Group
encourages and fosters a diverse and inclusive environment, enshrined
within the 'Markel Style” which 1s a statement of Markels core values
underpinning how we do business, mfuence our behaviour, and govern
our actions. The Group’s 'Style in Action’ programme reprasents our
commitment to bringing the Markel Style to life, The Style in Action
programme  encompasses the following employee-led networks. The
programme aims to address employee feedback, encourage engagement
acioss Lhe business, and enhance employees’ wellbeing at work.

Community

The Community network organised various social events for employees,
It was aiso instrumentat in enhancing the ‘Markel Match” charity
programme. The Markel Match supports staff who have charities close to
their heart by matching their individua! donations and fundraising efforts.
In 2022 the scheme increasad to match charitable donations on a 3:1
basis, up to a maximuny of £1,000 per employee per calendar year. Any
donation a2 staff member makes up to £1,000 will be trebled and their
chosen charities couid benefit from a Markel donation of up to £3,000.

Diversity and Inclusion

The Inclusion Network promoted events in respect of International
Women's Day and International Men's Day, Pride Month, Black History
Month and various cultural celebrations. Markel is aisc & giobal sponsor
of the annual London Market 'Dive In’ Festival, which promotes diversity
and inclusion in insurance, In 2022, Markel took part in the Lloyd’s
Culture survey which represents a key part of Lloyd's commitment to
buiiding an inclusive and high-performance cuiture across the market.

Wellbeing

During 2022, the Wellbeing network ran various campatgns inciuding
Mental Health Awareness Week and Nutrition and Hydration wWeek, The
network also ran First Aider at Work training for its wellbeing champions.

Recognition

The Recognition network launched a refreshed loyal service programme,
a webinar on the psychology and benefits of recognition, and continued
to support projects such as the annual Employee Appreciation Day and
the Markel Style Award.

Employee engagement is critical to the Group’s continued success and
resilience. A thorough remuneration review process is undertaken on an
annual basis, and an employee engagement survey is conducted every
two years, with a pulse survey in the intervening vear. The Group
communicates  with employees  through monthly emall newsletters
covering matters including strategy, business performance, divisional
performance, culture and events in the business. Quarterly town hall
briefing are held for all employees to attend. All employees have access
to regular training opportunities, both virtual and in person.

The Group receives quarterly updates on matters relating to employees,
including employee engagement and welibeing.

Marke! International Holdings Limited
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The need of the Company to
foster business relationships
with customers, suppliers and
others

Customers

The Group’s customers are concerned with recelving quality products and
services, and for the Group to deal diligently and effectively with daims.
The Group seeks to be a market leader in each of these pursuits and to
understand its customers’ needs.

The Group 15 focussed on targeting growth opportunities where it can
best add value to its customers, and on maintaining arequate solvency
o ensure policyholdar protection.

The Group has a highly trained and qualified team of claims specialists
with in-depth experience across all lines of business, and draws on the
expertise of external lawyers, loss adjusters and other professionals
where necessary, to ensure we deal diligently and effectively with claims,

In 2022, the MIICL, MSM and other regulated Boards within the Group
recaived regular updates about the progress of the Consumer Duty
project. The Consumer Duty introduces a new Consumer Principle which
requires firms to act to deliver good outcomes for retail customers, It
requires firms to deliver a higher standard of customer care and
protection, and to go further to equip consumers fo make effective
decisions in their best interests. The Group believes the Consumer Duty
is critical to delivering good ocutcomes for customers and is closely
following the prograss of the project.

Suppliers
The Group has a procurement team who monifors entry into key supply
contracts. Performance against KPIs is monitored by business leads.

The Group is committed to ensuring that slavery and human trafficking is
not taking place in our supply chains or any part of our business. We
publish an annual Modern Slavery Statement on our website which sets
out our controls in respect of the risk of slavery and human trafficking.

The MIICL and MSM OCutsourcing Committee oversees those Companies’
adherence to regulatory outsourcing requirements, and overseas the
performance of key outsourced services. Key focus areas for the Group's
Operations and IT teams in 2022 were Operational Resilience and
Business Continuity.

Partners

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of business
conduct. All partnerships are carefully considered hefore being entered
into, and there is regular engagement and assessment of KPls.

The Groups partners might include Appointed Representatives or
Delegated Authorities, which are monitored by the Comphance and
Delegated Authorities teams. The Group also has a Distribution
Strategies team that fosters and monitors relationships with brokers.

Il
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The impact of the Company's
operations on the community
and the cnvironment

The Group has a strong commibrnent to charities, the local community
and the environment.

Employees are encouraged to be directly involved in supporting local
community projects and charitable causes, and the Group assists with
fund-raising and arranges for matching of donations or sponsorship via
the Markel Match Programme mentioned earlier. In addition, all
amployees are allocated three volunteer days per year.

During 2022, the Style in Action Community network led several
community engagement initiatives, incuding a partnership with the
Brokerage, a social mobility charity; and a partnership with an
international chifdren’s charity. The Communily Network continues to
focus on reviewing existing charity, sustainability and sccial initiatives
and identifying future priorities.

The Gioup aims to mimimise envirommental impact by only using
necessary consumables, and recycling where possible. Environmental
performance is reviewed periodically. More informabion is provided in the
‘Carbon Policy’ statement set out in this report.

The Group has established a working group to consider the impact of
environmental, social and governance matters on the business.

The desirability of the Company
maintaining a reputation for
high standards of business
conduct

The Group is committed to maintaining a reputation for high standards of
business conduct. The Group’s governance and risk management
structures support this commitment.

The Group’s Compliance team actively monitors, and reguiarly reports to
the relevant Boards on matters including conduct risk, sanctions, fraud,
money laundering, bribery and corruption. The Group issues training and
policies on these matters to all employees on an annual basis.

The Compliance team also monitors the Group’s compliance with
reguiatory requirements including Consumer Duty, the Senior Managers
and Certification Regime, and the Lioyd’s Principles for Doing Business.

The Group are concernad with Operational Resilience and Cyber Security,
on which the relevant Boards also receive regular updates from the IT
and Operations teams.

Tha Group has & responsibilty to engage with regulators in all
jurisdictions where we aperate. The Group’s Risk Management and
Compliance teams lead relationships with regulators, including the PRA,
FCA, Uoyd’s, and local regulators in other jurisdictions. The Group
mainlains regular dralogue with regulators through both formal and
informal meetings.

Markel Internatonal Holdings Limited
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The need to act fairly as
between members of the
Company

Markel International Holdings (Delaware)} Limited ("MIHDL") is the
Company’s immediate shareholder, MIHDL is concerned with a hroad
range of issues ncluding, but not fimited to, the finandial and operating
performance of the Group, strategic execution and capital allocation. The
opinions of the MIHDL Board are taken into account when shaping the
Group strategy, operational performance and capital structure,

In addition, the Group enjoys a close working relationshin with its
uitimate holdig waniipdny, Markel Group Inc., a company listed on the
New York Stack Exchange.

By order of the Board,

Andrew ] Davies

Director

Londor:

28 September 2023
Registered number 11314497
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Directors' Report

The Directors subimit the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022,

Future developments

Likuly Tulure developments iy the busiiess of Lhe Company are discussed in the Strategic Report beginning
on page 2.

Dividends

No dividends were paid during the year {2021, $100m).

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served during 2022 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Andrew ] Davies

Nicholas 1 S Line

Richard R Whitt TH {resigned 31 December 2022)
Simon Wilson

Markel maintains liability insurance cover on behalf of the Directors and named Officers of the Company and
its subsidiaries, None of the Directors had a beneficial interest in the sharas or debentures of any of the UK

companies in the Markel Group.

Financial instruments and risk management

Information on the use of financial instruments by the Group and its management of the assodated financial
risk is disclosed in note 3 to these Financial Statements. In particular the Group's exposures to price risk,
credit risk and fiquidity risk are separately disclosed in that note. The Group's exposure to cash flow risk is
addressed under the headings of 'Market risk’, 'Credit risk’” and 'Liquidity risk’.

Employees

The Company is committed to policies which provide fair selection and advancement based on objective
assassment of ability and experience free from discrimination en any grounds. Efforts are made through
consultative bedies, departmental communication channels, including team briefing, presentations by senior
management and circulation of regular email updates to keep staff well informed about the affairs of their
company. Participation in share schemas is availeble and encourages involvement in the Markel performance.
It has always been the policy of the Company to encourage the employment, training and advancement of
disabled persons.

Corporate Governance

For detalls of the Company's Corporate Governance arrangemeants please refer to www.markel.com
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Political donations

No political donations were made in the year (2021, Nil).

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Statement: greenhouse gas
emissions and energy consumption

The Company has used the main requireaments of the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocoi Carporate Standard as
a basis to report energy consumption and GHG emissions. Data was gathered at site level to compile the
carbon footprint. Emissions disclosed relate to activities for which the company is responsible within the UK
only, and includes where applicable: combustion of gas from building operations where metered information
is available and fuels for business travel; and emissions from the purchase of electricity by the company for
its own use.

DOTRA UK Govennuenl Conversion Factors for GHG Company Reporting have been used to convert achivity
data into tonnes of carbon dioxide squivalent (tCOZe) amissions, Actual data was prioritised for reporting,
however in instances where this was not available, consumption data was estimated by apportioning building
leve!l consumption data based on the company’s leased floor area and the Better Buildings Partnership (BBP)
2020 Real Estate Environmental Benchmark (REEB) intensities, or directly substituting actual data for known
periods. Milage data was used to convert business travel into both GHG emissions and energy consumption
equivalent (kwh).

In 2022, The Company was responsible for a total of 2,193,445 kWh energy consumption in its buildings and
from fuel purchased for business travel. Of this, 100% was consumed within the UK, and approximately 8%
is estimated as ‘actual’ data was unavailable for alt of 2022.

This Streamlined Energy and Carben Reporting (SECR) statement gives Markel International Holdings
Limited’s annuat energy consumption and GHG emissions for the financdial year 1st January 2022 to the 31st
December 2022 and comparative previous year of 2021,

GHG Table 1: Markel International Holdings Limited's Underlying Energy Consumption

Energy Consumption Source (kWh) 2022 2021
Natural Gas 515,436 839,281
Electricity 1,474 608 1,734,201
Business Travel 203,402 63,452
Total Energy 2,193,445 2,636,973

GHG Table 2: Markel International Holdings Limited's GHG Emissions

GHG Emissions Scopes (tC0O,e) 2022 2021
Seope 1 - Direct combustion of fiiel fram operalion of properties (no
business travel in company-owned vehides) 94 154
Scope 2 - Electricity purchased for landlord shared services and own
use 285 368
Scopes 1 + 2 - Mandatory carbon footprint disclosure 379 522
Scope 3 - Categery 4: Fuel and Energy Related Activities
{Transmission & Distribution losses only) 26 33
Scope 3 - Category 6: Business Travel {employee owned and rented
vehicles only) 50 16
Scopes 1 + 2 + 3 - Voluntary carbon footprint disclosure 456 570
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in 2022, Scope 1 and 2 emissions have decreased by 17% when compared against 2021 emissions. This is
primarily driven by the benchmarks used to estimate the gas and electricity for eight assets in 2021, wheareas
only three assets in 2022 have relied on consumption estimates. Furthermore, the lease ended for one asset,
in 2021 and another was unoccupied, although the lease has been retained throughout 2022. This means
there were fewer applicable buildings occupied in 2022, which has also contributed to a reduchion in absolute
energy consumption and GHG emissions, The largest increase in GHG emissions between 2021 and 2022
resulted from fuel purchased for business travel. Restrictions were mandated by the UK government
throughout 2021 to limit the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and as these have been lifted in 2022,
business fravel has subsequently increase to accommiodale 'business as usual’ operations.

Emissions Intensity Ratio

Markel International Holdings Limited has chosen its intensity ratios as GHG emissions per full time employee
(FTE), as this measure 1s recommended for all companies per the SECR guidance. A 30% decrease in GHG
emissions per full time employee has been observed in 2022, partially due to a 13% increase in the number
of full time employees compared to 2021. However, the dominant cause of this intensity reduction is the
decrease in consumption observed in 2022, due to the large propertion of estimated data in 2021,

Energy Efficiency Actions in 2022

Markel International Holdings Limited undertook several energy efficiency actions in 2022, In September, an
electric vehidle scheme was launched for staff to purchase via a salary sacrifice. The increase of electric
vehicles amongst staff will halp to reduce the emissions associated with business travel. At 20 Fenchurch
Street a 13% reduction in energy consumption campared to 2021 was achiaved, this was mainly through
adjusting the BMS/HVAC systems, which has the greatest impact in reducing natural gas usage. In addition,
Markel International Holdings Limited also participated in Project Go Dark, an energy reduction initiative in
collaboration with the landlord of 20 Fenchurch Street, to support reducing ocut-of-hours Highting usage and
the associated light poliution this causes. Finally, two offices were consofidated into one building in Rugby;
this decrease in floor area indirectly led to an overall decrease in absolute energy consumption.

Carbon policy

As set out in the '‘Markel Style” the Company has a commitment to its communities which we recognise
includes environmental responsibiliies. Our goal is to minimise our environmental impact whilst still adhering
to our other company principles as expressed in the ‘Markal Style” and our company profile.

Through the development of best practices in our businass, the Company aims to use no more consumables
than are necessary and recycle the maximum of those we do use. The Directors also believe that embedding
environmental awareness throughout the organisation will be best achieved through a continuous
programme of employee education.

Events since the reporting date

On 14th March 2023, the Company's subsidiaries entered into a Loss Portfolio Transfer transaction with
Marco Capital regarding the Group's portfolic of UK Motor insurance claims. This is not expected o have a
matcrial impact on tiwe consulidated resules ot the Company.

Disclosure of information to the Auditor

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors' report confirm that, so far as they are
each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's Auditor is urnaware; and each
Director has taken all the steps that they ought fo have taken as a Director to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to astablish that the Company's Auditor is aware of that information.

Markel Internationat Holdings Limited 16
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Auditor

In accordance with Section 487 of the Companias Act 2006, the Auditor will be deemed to be reappointed
and KPMG LLP will, therefore, continue in office.

By order of the Board,

M-

Andrew ] Davies
Diraector
tondon

28 September 2023
Registerad number 11314497
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities

in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors' Report and the
Financial Statements

The Mireciors are responsible for proparing the Straleyic Report, the Directors’” Report and the Group and
parent Company Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations,

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have alected to prepare the Group and parent Company Finandial Statements in accordance with UK
Accounting Standards and applicable law {UK Generally Accepted Acceunting Practice), including Financial
Reporting Standard ("FRS") 102 the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland and FRS 103 Insurance Contracts.

Under Company law, the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's
profit or loss for that penod. In preparing each of the Group and parent Company Finandial Statements, the
Directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

« state whethar applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the Financiat Statements;

= assess the Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters rejated to going concern; and

» use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to ligudate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasenable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006, They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard
the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report and
a Directors” Report that complies with that law and those regulations.

By arder of the Board,

Andrew J Davies

Director

London

28 September 2023
Registered number 11314497
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Markel
International Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Markel International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) for
the year erderd 31 Decamber 2022 which comprise the Consclidated income Statement (Technical Account),
the Consolidated Income Statement (Non-Techrical Account), the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Censolidated Statement of
Financial Position, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Company Statement of Financial Position
and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a frue and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company's affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

» have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 7The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Repubiic of Irefand and

e have been prepared in accordance with the raequirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted ocur audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (TISAs {UKY") and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsihilities under,
and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard. We believe that the audif evidence we have cbtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our
opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepered the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liqguidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group
and the Company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern
for at least a year from the date of approval of the finanaal statements (“the going concern period”),

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group's business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability to
continue operations over the going concern pericd.

Our conclusions based on this work:

« we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate; and

« we have nnt idenfified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on
the Group or the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannct predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may rasult in

outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
above conclusions are not a guaraniee that the Group or the Company will continue in aperation.
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations - ability to detect
fdentifving and responding o risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (fraud risks™y we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to cemmit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

e Enquiring of directors, the audit committee, and the legal, risk and compliance functions, and inspection
of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud,
including the internal audit function, and the Group’s channel for "whistleblowing”, as well as whether
they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

e Reading Board, audit committee, and other relevant committee meeting minutes;

s« Considering remuneration incentive schemes; and

o Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet profit targets and our
overall knowledge of the controt environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of management
override of controls, in particular the risk that Group and component management may be in a pesition to
make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and judgements such as
the valuation of gross and net claims cutstanding - IBNR, On this audit we do not believa there is a fraud risk
refated to revenue recognition because of limited estimation involved in accruing premium income.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We performed the following procedures, including:

+ Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for ali full scope components based on risk
criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included those posted
to cash accounts or journals posted by individuals who typically do not make journal entries, including
post-closing and period end journals; and

e Using our actuarial specialists to assess the appropriateness and consistency of the methods and
assumptions used to estimate the valuation of gross and net claims outstanding IBNR for 90% of the
reserving classes and assessing the result of bias in Valuation of claims outstanding {IBNR),

Tdentifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with faws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on
the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience through discussion with the
directors and others management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Group’s
regulatory and legat correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations. As the Group's component are regulated,
aur assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control environment including the entity’s
procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

We communicated identified laws and requlations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications
of non-compliance throughout the audit,

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group 1s subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legisfation (including related companies legislation), distnbutable profits legislation, and
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taxation fegislaticr and pension legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on Lhe related finandcial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance
through the imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Group’s companants license to operate. We
identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect; anti-bribery, employment law,
regulatory capital and liquidity and certain aspects of company legislation recedgnising the financial and
regulated nature of the Group's activities.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and
regulations o enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal
correspondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from
relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context ¢f the abiiity of the audit to detect fraud or breachos of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent fimitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected
some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
comphance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissians, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for prevenling non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations,

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report.  Qur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover thase reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic repert and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether,
based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent
with the financial stataments or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

+« we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

s in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

s in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opiniort:

s adegquate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or retumns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

s the parent Company financal statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and raturns;
or

s certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit. We have nothing to report in these respects.

Other matter - prior period consolidated financial statements

We note that the company did not previously prepare conscolidated financial statements. Conseqguently [SAs
{UK} require the auditor to state that the corresponding figures contained within the consolidated financial
statements are unaudited. Qur opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in ther statement set out on page 18, the directors are responsible for: the
praparation of the finandal statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company's
abifity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related te going concern; and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend o liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatemant, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered matenial If, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description  of  our  responsibilities  is  provided on  the FRCs  website at
www . frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state tc the Company’s
membears thase matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for na other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by faw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for cur audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

T ade>

Timothy Butchart

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

28 September 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement: Technical Account
for the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes Sm sm sm sm
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance -
Gross written premiums 4 1,952 1,56
Citward : i
Sutward reinsurance premiums 969 594
Net written premiums 1,083 8h2
Change In the gross provision for unearmed premiums 23 (189) {69}
Change i1 the provision for unearmed premiuims
reinsurers’ share 23 86 21
Change in the prowvision for net unearned premiums 103 (48
Net Earned Premiums 980 804
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance
Claims paid
Gross amount (795) {883}
Rainsurers' share 510 554
Net paid claims (285) (334)
Change in the provision for claims
Gross amount 23 {324) (25)
Reinsurers’ share 33 (7) (49)
MNet change n provision 331) {74}
Net claims incurred (616) (408}
Net operating expenses <] {345) (328)
Balance on the technical account 19 68

Tha notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Income Statement: Non-Technical Account
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 2021

sm Sim

Balance on the technical account 19 68
Investment income 7 52 41
Investment expenses and charges 2 SNy (15}
Unrealised (losses)/gains on investments g (227) 45
Cther income 10 83 g0
Other operating expenses and charges 11 (74) (84)
Net foreign exchange gains/{losses) 25 {2)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 12 {133) 143
Taxahon on profit on ordinary activities 12 34 (24)
wi‘-‘rcnﬁt for the year (99) 119

The notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements,
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 2021

o $m sm

Profit for the year {99) 119
Remeasurement of net defined pensian asset 26 33 17
Movement on deferred tax relaling to pension scheme 26 {8) {1
Total Comprehensive Income for the year {(74) 127

The notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Non-Controlling Comprehensive

2022 Interest Income Total
R — — . . gm0 sm . sm
At beginung of year {i} 779 778
Total comprehensive ncome for the year (74} {74)
At end of year {1) 705 704

Non-Controlling Comprehensive
2021 Interest Income Total
At beginning of year (i) 752 751
Total comprehensive income for the year - 127 127
Dividends paid - {100 {1040}
At end of year (1) 779 778

The notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position: Assets
as at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes $m $m
Investments
Other finanoal mvestments 15 I,869 1,921
Cash and cash equivalents 16 1,230 1,075
3,099 2,996
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions
Provisions for unearned premiums 23 335 258
Cltarms outstanding 23 1,204 1,254
1,539 1,512
Pension asset 26 63 33
Debtors
Debtors arising out of direct insurance cperations 17 579 552
Debtars arising out of reinsurance operations 17 260 16
Other debtors induding taxation 19 39 53
871 769
Tangible and intangible assets
Tangible assets 26 71 27
Intangible assets 21 5 )
26 33
Prepayments and accrued income
Accrued interest 12 Il
Defarred acquisition costs 23 56 59
108 80
Total Assets 5,706 5,423

The notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position: Liabilities
as at 31 December 2022

Notes 20$2n2: 20$2ni

Capital and reserves
Non-controdhing interest (1) (1)
Profit and loss account 745 779
Shareholder's funds attributable to equity interests 704 778

Technical provisions
Provisions for uneaimed premiums 23 70 6513
Clarms gutstanding 23 3,282 3,103
4,052 3,716

Creditors

Creditors ansing out of direct insurancea operations 24 177 143
Craditors arising out of rensurance operations 24 666 569
Defarred taxation liability 18 53 24
Gther creditors including taxation and sooial securny 25 54 193
950 929
Total Liabilities and Shareholder’'s Funds 5,706 5,423

The notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements.

Approved by the Board of Directars on 28 September 2023 and signed on behalf of the Company by Andrew
Davies, Company Director.

Andrew ] Davies
Director

London

28 September 2023
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

as at 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 2021
e S em sm
Cash flows from operating activities
{Lass)/profit on ordinary actiaties after tax 99 119
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 7 3
Increase i gross claims outstanding 324 25
Increase in gross unearned premium 189 &9
Dacrease n reinsurers' share of daims outstanding 7 49
{Increase) in remnsurers share of unearned premium (86) (21}
(Increasel/decraase in acoreed inferest {13 1
{Increase} In deferred acquisibion costs (22) {4}
{Increase) in trade and other debtors {102) {233)
Increase In wade and other creditors 63 288
Increase/{decrease) in deferred tax 29 (34}
Investment return 175 (86)
Tax nad (3) (29)
Interest pald {4) (8)
Foregn exchange (31) 36
Net cash flow from operating activities 436 175
Cash flows from investing activities
(Purchases ) proceeds from sale of fixed assets (2) -
Purchases of financal investments {(992) (L,662)
Proceeds from sales of finandial investments 796 1,496
Interest recewed 55 50
Dradend received - -
Net cash from investing activities ) ﬂ(mi};) (71717.767)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend paid - {10Q)
Loan fachty from ultimate parent (7G;} -
Net cash from financing activities o (70) {100}—
Net increase/(decrease)} in cash and cash equivalents 222 (41}
Cash and cash equivalents at ! January 1,075 1,132
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (67 (16)
Cash and cash aquivalents at 31 December 1,230 1,075

The notes on pages 31 to 64 form part of these Financial Statements
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Company Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 2021
&m sm

Assets
Fixed Assets
investments in group undertakings and parbapating interests 16 615 615
Current Assets
Debtors 1 1
Total assets less current liabilities 616 616
Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital 22 - -
Profit and loss account 616 6l
Shareholder's funds 616 61.6

The nates on pages 31 to &4 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1

31

Basis of Preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with Financal Reporting Standard
("FRS") 102, being the Financial Reporting Standard apgiicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland,
ana MRS 103 Insurance Contracts.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 December 2022, A subsidiary is an enlity that is controlled by
the parent, The results of subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidated income statement
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Control is established when
the Company has the power to govern the cperating and financial policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes intc consideration potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable.

Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the reguirement to
present its own income statement.

The notes to these consolidated financial statements are based on Group numbers unless otherwise

stated. The parent company is included in the consclidatad financial statements, and is considered to

he a qualifying entity under FRS 102 paragraphs 1.8 to 1.12. The following exemptions availabie

under FRS 102 in respect of certain disclosures for the parent company financal statements have

been applied:

- Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

- Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding from the beginning tc the end of the period;

- Key Management Personnal compensation; and

- Certain disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102.12 Other
Financial Instrument Issues in respect of financial instruments not falling within the fair value
accounting rules.

Thase Finandal Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss that are measured at fair value,

Going Concern

The Directors do not expect to change or cease operations in the foreseeable future. MIHL has
provided a guarantee to a number of subsidiaries, listed in note 16, in respect of the financal year 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022, This guarantee has the effect that:

1. The parent guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary companies are subject
at the end of the financial year to which the guarantee relates, until they are satisfiad in full;
andg

2. The guarantee is enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom the
subsidiary company is liable in respect of those liabilities.

Basaed on the Company's operational resilience and financial resources, the Directors have
reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The Group's primary sources of income are MIICL and the Syndicate. The Directors have continued
to review the capital position, business plans, liquidity and operational resilience of these entities,
The capital and liquidity position is subiect to internal stress testing and the entities have also taken
several underwriting actions on its future business. Within the Syndicate, the 2023 year of account
nas been established at an increased stamp capacity and the Directors expect to establish a 2024
vear of account, and are not aware of any reason why this will not be possible. They have also
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concluded that the Syndicate’s financial position means that this is realistic, Where there are any
short term liquidity requirements there is support from Markel and during 2022, Markel Group Inc.
made available a loan facility to Syndicate 3000.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, the Directors have identified no material
uncertainties that cast doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern for at
ieast a year from the date of approval of the Mnanaal Statements ("the going concern perinad™,

Accounting policies

A summary of the more material accounting policies that have been applied consistently 15 set out
below,

Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors of the Company have made judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting pelicies and the
raported amounts of assets, liahilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates, Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing hasis, Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively,

Further detail on the use of judgements and estimates is detailed in the underwriting result policy.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the original cost of fixed assefs on a straight line basis over
thelr estimated useful lives which are considered to be:

{easehold Improvements Between 2 and 20 years
Plant and Equipment Between 3 and 5 years
Maotor Vehicles 3 years

Intangible assets and goodwilt

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are being amortised over 10 years. being the estimatad useful life, The Group tests
intangible assets annually for impairment. or more freguently. if there are indications it might be
impaired.

Goodwill

The difference between the cost of acquisition of shares in subsidiaries and the fair value of the
separable net assets acquired is accounted for as goodwill and amaortised through the Statermnent of
Comprehensive Income in equal nstalments over its estimated useful ife of sixteen years. The
Group tests goodwill annually for impairments or more frequently if there are indications that goodwili
may be impaired. Provision is made for any impairment.

Brands and customer lists

Brands and Customer lists are measured at purchase cost less any provision for impairment and are
amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful life as follows:

Brands and Customer lists 10 years

Operating leases
Annual rentals relating to operating leases are charged to eperating profit on a straight line basis over
the lease term.

Share-based payments
The fair value of shares awarded, as measured at grant date, is recognised as an expense within the
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corresponding credit being recorded in a canital contnbution reserve within net equity. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference o Lhe fair value of the awards granted.

Underwriting result

The underwriting result is determined using an annual basis of accounting, whereby the incurred
cost of claims, commission and expenses are charged against the earned proportion of premiums,
net of reinsurance, as follows:

I} Written premiums refate to business incepted during the year, together with any difference

i

i)

V)

batween hooked premiums for prior yvears and those previously accrued, and include estimates of
premiums not yet due or notified to the Group. Premiums are shown gross of brokerage payable
and excludes taxes and duties levied on them.

Unearnad premiums represent the proportion of premiums written in the year that relates to
unexpired terms of policies in force at the reporting date, calculated on the basis of established
earnings patterns or time apportionment/straight line as appropriate. In the opinion of the
Directors, the resuiting provision is not materially different from cne based on the pattern of
incidence of risk.

Outwards reinsurance premiums are accounted for in the same accounting period as the
premiums for the related direct or inwards reinsurance business being reinsured.

Acquisition costs, which represent commission and underwriters' staff cosis related to the
production of business, are deferred and amortised over the period in which the related
premiums are earned.

Provision for unexpired risks is made where daims and related expenses likely fo arise after the
end of the financal year in respect of contracts concluded before that date are expected to
exceed the unearned premiums receivable, less tha related deferred acquisition costs, under
these contracts. Provision for unexpired risks is calculated separately by class and includes an
allowance for investment return. Unexpired nsk surpluses and deficiis are offset where, in the
opinion of the Directors, the business ciasses concerned are managed together, and in such cases
a provision for unexpired risks is made only where there is an aggregate deficit,

vi) Claims incurred comprise claims and claims handling expenses paid in the year and the change in

provisions for outstanding claims, including provisions for claims incurred but not reported and
claims handling expenses. The adeqguacy of the outstanding claims provisions is assessed by
reference to projections of the ultimate development of claims in respect of each underwriting
year, Management continually attempis to improve its loss estimation process by refining its
ability to analyse loss develapment patterns, claims payments and other information, but many
reasons remain for potential adverse development of estimated ultimate liabilities. The process
of estimating loss reserves is a difficuit and complex exercise inveolving many variables and
subjective judgements. As part of the reserving process, the Group reviews historical data and
considers the impact of various factors such as trends in clasm frequency aid severity, changes in
operations, emerging economic and social trends, inflation and changes in regulatory and
litigation envircnments. Significant delays occur in notifying certain claims and a large measure of
experience and judgement is involved in assessing outstanding liabilities, the ultimate cost of
which cannot be known with certainty at the reporting date. The reserve for claims outstanding is
determined on the basis of infermation currently available., However, It is inherent in the nature
of the business written that the ultimate liabiliies may vary as a result of subsequent
development. The Group maintains reserves an e pricing basis, with an additional reserving
margin. Pricing basis represents the actuarial reserving "best estimate”. The reserving margin
reflects the Markel reserving philosophy of holding reserves that are more likely to be redundant
than deficient.
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The two most critical assumptions as regards these claims provisions are that the past is a
reasonable predictor of the likely level of claims development and that the models used for
current business are fair reflections of the likely levei of ultimate claims to be incurred. However,
the Group believes the process of evaiuating past experience, adjusted for the effects of current
developments and anticipatad trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future events. The
estimation process has required reviewing risks and events which are expected to trigger future
reported claims, assumptions on when government restrictions would end and assessing the
potential financial loss of insureds. This has required underwriter, claims and actuarial experience
in conjunction with external legal opinion and management’s professional  judgement.
Management currently believes the Group's gross and net reserves are adequate. There is na
precise method, however, for evaluating the impact of any significant factor on the adequacy of
reserves, and actual results are likely to differ from original estimates,

The provisions for claims outstanding, and related reinsurance recoveries, are discounted for PPO
and Asbestos claims, due to the long period from incident to claims settlement and where there
exists a suitable claims payment pattern from which to calcuiate the discount. The discount rate
used 1s based upon an investment return expected to be earned by financial assets which are
appropriate in value and duration o match the provisions for insurance contract liabilities being
discounted during the period expected before the final settlement of such claims.

Management has considered environmental and latent injury claims and claims expenses In
establishing the Group’s reserve for daims outstanding. The Group continues to be advised of
claims asserting injuries from hazardous materials and alleged damages to cover various clean-up
costs affecting policies written in prior years. Coverage and claim settlement issues, such as
determining that coverage exists and defining an occurrence, may cause the actual loss
devalopment to show more variation than the rest of the Group’s book of business. Traditional
reserving technigues cannot be used to estimate asbestos-related and environmental pollution
claims and so the uncertainty about the ultdmate cost of these types of claims is greater than the
uncertainty relating to standard lines of business. The Group believes it has made reasonable
provisions for claims, although the ultimate hability may be more or less than held reserves. The
Group believes that future fosses associated with these claims will not have a material adverse
effect on its finandal position. Stili, there is no assurance that such losses will not materially
affect the Group's results of operations for any period.

Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date. A reinsurance asset is
deemed impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its
initial recognition, that the Group may not recover all amounts due, and that event has a reliably
measurable impact on the amount that the Group will receive from the reinsurer. Impairment
fosses are recognised in the Income Statement: Technical Account in the period in which the
impairment loss is recognisad.

vil} Underwriting acquisition costs, general overheads and other expenses are charged as incurred to

the Income Statement: Technical Account, net of the change in deferred acquisition costs.

Financial assets and liabilities

Classification

The accounting classification of financial assets and liabilities determines the way in which they are
measured and changes in those values are presented in the Income Statement. Financial assets and
liabikties are dassified on their initial recogrition. Subseguent reclassifications are permitted only in
restricted circumstances.,

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss comprise financial assets
and financial habifites held for trading and those designated as such on intial recognition.
Investments in shares and other variable vield securities are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition, as they are managed on a fair value basis in accordance with the
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Group's investment strategy. Investments in fixed income securities are designated at amortised
cost,

Recognition

Financal instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument, Financial assets are derecognised if the Group's contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group transfers the financial asset to another party
without retzining control of substantially alf risks and rewards of the asset. A financat liability is
derecognised when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recegnised and derecognised, as applicable,
on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits itself to purchase or sell the assat.

Measurement

A financial asset or financiat liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for a financial asset or
financial liability not at fair valus through profit and loss, fransaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value with fair value changes recagnised immediately in profit or {oss. Net gains or
net tosses on finanaal assets measured at fair value through profit or loss includes foregn exchange
gains/losses arising on their franslation to the functional currency, but excludes interest and dividend
income. Loans and receivables and non-derivative financial liabilities are measurad at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Investmeni Relumns

Investment income comprises nterest and dividends receivable for the year before investment
expenses. Dividends receivable are stated after adding back any withholding taxation deducted at
source, Investment expenses are charged to the Income Statement: Non-Technical Account on an
incurred basis.

Realised gains or losses rapresent the difference between net sales proceeds and purchase price,
Urrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the current value of
investments at the reporting date and their purchase price. The movement in unrealised investment
gains/losses includes an adiustment for previously recognised unrealised gains/losses on investments
disposed of in the accounting period.

Dividends receivable are accounted for by reference to the date an which the price of the investment
is quoted ex-dividend.

The investment refurn is initially recorded in the Income Statement: Non-Technical Account. A
transfer is made from the Income Statement: Neon-Technical account to the Income Statement:
Technical Account to reflect the investment return on funds supporting underwriting business.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group considers ab financial investments with ariginal maturities of three months or less to be
cash and cash equivalents. Deposits with credit institutions are comprised of cash balances,
certificates of deposit and call deposits. Money market funds are cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in fair value and are used by the Group in
management of its short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost in the
Staterment of Financial Position.

fnvestment in group undertakings

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Any impairment
losses are recognised in the Statement of Camprehensive Income. An impairment loss 1s reversed If
the subsequent increase in fair valug can be related objectively to an event after the impairment loss
was recognised, The reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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h) Financial Investments
Financial investments are stated at market value based on bid price and deposits with credit
institutions are stated at cost. Financial investments recorded at market value will fall into one of the
three levels in the fair value hierarchy as follows:

i} Included in the level 1 category are financial assets that are measured by reference to published
quotes in an arfive market, A finanoal instrument is regarded as guoted in an active market if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

i Included in the level 2 category are finandial assets measurad using a valuation technigue based
on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current market transactions. For
example, assets for which pricing is obtained via pricing services but where prices have nol been
determined in an artive market, financial assets with fair values based on broker quotes,
investments in private eguity funds with fair values obtained via fund managers and assets that
are valued using the Group’s own models whereby the significant inputs into the assumptions are
market observable,

ity Included in the level 3 category, are financial assets measured using a valuation technique
{model} based on assumpfions thal are neither supported by prices from observable current
market transactions in the same instrument nor are they based on available market data.
Therefore, significant unobservable inputs reflect the Groups own assumptions about the
assurnptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (induding
assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed based on the best information available,
which might include the Group’s own data.

i) Pension costs

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The
Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit 1s discounted te determine its present value. The fair value of
any plan assets is deducted. The Group determines the net interest expense/income on the net
defined benefit liability/asset for the period by applying the discount rate as determined at the
beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability/asset taking account of changes
arising as a result of contributions and benefit payments.

The discount rate is the vield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the
currency of, and having maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Group’s obligations. A
valuation is performed annually by a gualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The
Group recognises net defined benefit plan assets to the axtent that it is able to recover the surplus
either through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan.

Changes in the neat defined benefit liability/asset arising from employee service rendered during the
period, net interest on net defined benefit liability/asset, and the cost of plan introductions, benefit
changes, curtailments and settlements during the period are recognised in the Income Statement:
Technical Account.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit lalility/asset is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the period in which it occurs.
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Foreign currency translation

The Company and the Group's funchional currency and presentational currency is US dollars.
Transactions denominated i currencies other than the functional currency are recorded in the
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabifities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate ruling on the reporting date.

MNon-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in & foreign currency, measured at fair value, are
translated info the functional currency at the date when the fair value was determinad.

Excharge differences are recorded in the Income Statement: Non-Technical Account.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income Statement: Non-Technical Account.

Current tax 1s the expectad tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to fax
payable in respect of previcus years.

Deferrad tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and expenses
in tax assessments in pericds different from those in which they are recognised in the Financial
Statements. The following timing differences are not provided for: differences between accumulated
depreciation and tax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset if and when all conditions for retaining
the tax allowances have been met; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, to the
extent that it is not probable that they will reverse in the foreseeable future and the reporting entity
is able to control the reversal of the timing difference. Deferred tax is not recognised on permanent
differences arising because certain types of income or expense are non-taxable or are disallowable
for tax or because certain tax charges or allowances are greater or smaller than the corresponding
INCOMe or expeanse,

Deferred tax is measured at the fax rate that is expected to apply to the reversal of the related
difference, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax
balances are not discounted.

Unrelleved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that is it

nrobable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future
taxable profits,
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3 Risk and capital management

Financial risk management objectives

The Group is exposed to financial risks primarly through its financial assets, reinsurance assets and
policyholder Habilities. The Group's risks are recorded on a Risk Register and managed through the
Risk Management Framework. Solvency 11 principles are used to manage the Group's capital
requirements and 1o ensure that it has the financial strength to support the growth of the business
and meet the requirements of policyholders, requiators and rating agencies,

The key finandial and insurance risks assessed are Underwriting Risk, Reserving Risk, Asset Risk,
Credit Risk, Liguidity Risk, Capital Risk and Operational Risk.

a) Underwriting Risk
Underwriting Risk is the risk of loss arising from the inherent uncertainties as to the occurrence,
amount and timing of insurance liabilities, focusing on risks that arise from the acceptance of
husiness,

All underwriting at the Group is governed by the "Underwriting Policy” which sets out the imperatives
for underwriting. The first core principle within the Underwriting Policy is refated to underwriting
profitable business and is “The aim of all underwriting decisions is to achieve the target combined
ratio for each class in a spirit of honesty and integrity”. The Group's fundamental objective is to
underwrite profitably on a gress basis and to achieve target combined ratios. A combined ratio is
the uitimate loss ratio plus expense ratio. This measure of underwriting performance excludes any
benefit from investment return and focuses attention on premium charged, coverage grented,
commissions and other deductions and all direct and indirect expenses.

Risk appetites are agreed annually by the Board to limit underwriting concentration. Adherence to
these is monitored at the Risk & Capital Committee through Key Risk Indicators. Any exceptions to
risk appetite are reported to the Board.

The Group sets prudent maximum line-sizes. All underwriters have written underwriting authorities
and there are peer reviews/reviaw processes in place to ensure that business underwritten does not
exceed authority or is outside the business plan. Risks exceeding 18 months are not permitted to be
written without prior, written approval, although certain general exceptions are made. For example,
in respect of Marine Construction risks {where matching reinsurance exists) this has been agreed in
advance as part of the Group's underwriting strategy. Compliance with line-size and policy duration
is monitored,

Technical pricing has been developed for many classes, and rate movements have heen monitored
since 2002,

There are independent reviews of underwriting,

A key method of monitoring the Group's aggregate exposures Is the production of a quarterly
“Aggregations pack” which sets out our exposures to various elemental and non elemental perils. For
exampie, for natural catastrophe risk wa menitor and report the Group’s exposure, both gress and
net, to each material region/peril, Units are given aggregate limits for catastrophe business in each
zone and adherence to these is monitored within the pack. Natural catastrophe and nen-natural
catastrophe exposures form part of Risk Management's quarterly assessment of risk to the Risk &
Capital Committee and to the Board.
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Reserving Risk

Reserving Risk is the risk of loss arising from the inherent uncertainties as te the occurrence, amount
and timing of insurance liahilities, focusing on risks that arise from the quantification of those
labilities.

Risk appetites are agreed annuzlly by the Board to reduce the likelihood of the reserves being
deficient, Adherence to these is monitored at the Risk & Capital Committee through Key Risk
indicators, Any exceptions to risk appetite are reported to the Board.

Claims handiing guidelines for MIHL are sat out in MINT's approach to claims, including:

» Claims diaries -~ claims adjusters must ensure that they diarise relevant dates when necessary.
There are rules regarding which types of claims are subject to digry management, and targets set
are monitored on a monthly basis,

« Panel of third party advisors - a panel of approved third party advisors (Attorneys and Adjusters)
has been established. Third party advisors can only be appointed with sign off from a Claims
Manager.

« Claims peer review audits — each underwriting unit is subject to a periodic claims audit of selected
claims files for identifying strengths and weaknesses in the handling of claims. Senior independent
claims personnel are responsible for the qualitative review of the handling of files.

An Actuarial reserving exercise occurs quarterly for the reserving basis, and bi-annually for the
pricing basis, This involves internal review within the Actuarial department and discussions with
relevant underwriters and claims staff, induding consideration of the impact of factors such as trends
in claims frequency and severity as well as inflation. Pricing basis represents the actuarial reserving
"hest estimate”. The reserving basis reflects the Markel reserving philosophy of holding reserves that
are more likely to be redundant than deficient. Combined Ratio packs are produced which contain
gross and net projections for all classas of business written at MINT. The packs are discussed in
detail at quarterly "Combined Ratio Meetings”, which are attended by the Executive Management,
the Divisional Manaqging Director/Branch Managing Director from each unit and the relevant
Actuaries.

Asset Risk
Asset Risk is the risk of loss resulting from adverse financial market movements including interest
rates or exchange rates,

Risk appetites are agreed annually by the Board to limit investment concentration. Adherence to
these 15 monitored at the Risk & Capital Committee through Key Risk Indicators. Any exceptions to
risk appetite are reported to the Board.

The Group's investment manager, Markel Gayner Asset Management Corporation ("MGAM")
produces a quarterly Investment Report which is reviewed quarterly by Markel's investment
committee, The Group's Finance Director participates in this meeting. A quarterly investment report
is produced for the Group's Board,

The principal market risks and how exposure to these tisks is managed are as follows:

Interest rate risk: The Group works to manage the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the fixed
maturity portfolio. The effective duration of the fixed maturity profile 1s managed with consideration
given to the estimated duration of policyholder liabilities. As the Group's fixed income securities are
measured at amorhised cost the impact of interest rate movements on this portfolio is negligible.

Equity price risk: The Group sets limits on the amount of equities that can be held with any one

issuer, The overall equity portfelio is also monitored to ensure that equity risk does not exceed the
Group's risk appetite.
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The table betow sets out the Group’s sensitivity to stock market price movements,

Price risk

2022 2021

sm $m

Impact on result of 5% ncrease in stock market prices 25 24
Impact on -esult of 5%, decrease in stock market prices (253 {24
Impact on net assets of 5% increase in stock market prices 4 12
Impact on net assets of 5% decrease in stock market prices {193 (18

Fareign exchange risk: Foreign exchange risk is managed pnmarily by matching assets and
liabilities in each foreign currency as closely as possible. To assist in the matching of assets and
liabilities n foreign currencies the Group may purchase foreign exchange forward contracts or buy
and seli foreign currencies in the open market. No foreign exchange forward contracts have been
entered into during the year.

The table below details the matching of material currencies on the Statement of Financlal Position.
The currencies are reported in converted US dollars.

2022

Currency Code GBP'm UsD'm EUR'm CAD'm AUD'M IPY'm Other'm Total'm
Investments 775 1,568 107 497 72 7 168 3,059
Remnsurers' share of

techrical provisions 129 1,253 21 44 35 1 16 1,539
Insurance and

femsurance

recevables 181 572 3 32 E {2) 37 832
Other assets 278 (34) 17 14 1) 1 {16} 236
Total assets 1,363 3,399 148 492 122 7 175 5,706
Technical prowisions (1.004) (2,289 (122} (392} (110 (30} (185) (4,052
Insurance and

reINsuUrance

vayables (93) (720) (6) (9} {15} - - {843}
Other crediters {127) (12%) (5) (3} - - 157 (107)
Total liabilities {1,224} (3,138) (133) {404} (125} {30} 52 {5,002)
2021

Currency Code GBP'm usp'm EUR'm CAD'm AUD'M IPY’'m Other'm Total'm
Investrnents 745 1.507 128 373 70 5 168 2,996
Reinsurers' share of

techinical provisions 127 1,279 34 25 29 1 17 1,512
Insurance and

rensurance

receivables 193 418 1 32 12 (1} 22 677
Other assets 213 (36} 23 16 4 1 (28) 159
Total assets 1,284 3,168 186 446 115 6 179 5,384
Technical provisions (1,044) (1,888} (204 (333) {110} (16) {116) (3,718)
Insurance and

remsurance

payables (45} (622) (2 (2 1 1 {4 (871)
Cther creditors (139) {(103) {6} {4} - - 33 {2193
Total liabilities {1,229) {2,613) {212) (344) {109) (15) (84) {4,606)
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d} Credit Risk
Credit Risk is the risk of loss arsing from the inability of a counterparty to fulfil 1ts payment
obligations. Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are:

» Amounts recoverable from reinsurers
= Amounts due from insurance intermediaries and insurance contract holders
« Amounts due from corporate bond issuers

The Group's fixed income securities portfolio s monitored to ensure credit risk does not exceed the
Group's risk appetite, In addition, the Group places limits on exposures o a single counterparty or
concentrations of exposures to a specific counterparty. The Group doss not hold any financial
investments that are past due or impaired as at 31 December 2022,

The Board safs risk appetites for the amount of exposure it is prepared to accept in respect of
reinsurers and brokers. These are maonitored through reports to Risk & Capital Committee and any
exceptions are reported to the Board,

The Group takss a proactive approach to the coflection of reinsurance recoveries, including the
pursuit of commutations, New reinsurers may be required to post collateral depending on their size,
rating and potential debt to the Group. If a reinsurer is not willing fo post collateral then their line
size may be reduced to an acceptable level in accordance with their applicabie rabing and capital.

The table below provides details of the credit rating by asset class.

2022 AARA AA A BEB B8 or less Not rated Total
$m $m $m $m sm $m s$m
Shares and other varahle vield
securities anc unit frusts - - - - - 450 430
Debt securities 261 758 162 - - 84 1,265
Short term investments - - it4 - - - 14
Money market funds 198 - 199 - - - 397
Cverseas funds 45 13 11 8 39 39 159
Repaosits with credit institutions - <} 541 27 - - 674
Reinsurers' share of clams
cutstanding 2 298 385 - - 19 1,204
Reinsurance debtors 1 121 130 - - 8 260
Total credit risk 511 1,196 2,142 35 39 649 4,563
2021 AAA AA A B3B8 BB or lass Not rated Total
$m $m $m $m sm $m $m
Shares and other variable yield
securities and unit trusts - - - - - 484 484
Debt securities 277 793 225 - - 100 1,395
Short term vestiments - - 42 - - - a2
Money market funds 115 124 4 - - - 243
Overseas funds o7 5] 10 3 45 43 1350
Depasits wath credit institutions 24 - 61% g - - 652
Remsurers' share of claims 11 248 97 B } 23 1,254
outstanding
Remsurance debtors 3 33 /3 E - 5 164
Total credit risk 497 1,254 1,945 18 a5 655 4,414

Assels not contained in the above table include: reinsurers' share of unearned premium, debtors
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arising out of direct insurance operations, deferred acquisition costs and other debtors. These assets
have been excluded from the table as credit ratings are not readily ascertainable.

e} Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that sufficent liquid financial resources are not maintained to meet liabilities
as they fall due. The Group monitors the projected settlement of liabilities and, in conjunction with
MGAM, sets guidelines on the composition of the pertfolio in order to manage this risk.

The bulk of liabilities are held at MIICL and MCAP, The average duration of liabilities at MIICL is 3.7
vears, and at MCAP 1s 4,8 years {2021, 4,0 years at MIICL, and 4.9 years at MCAP). The duration of
the Group's investment portfolic is managed to match the expecied cash outflows on labilities,

The liquidity pesition is manitored quarterly against the risk appetite, and each year liguidity stress
tests are undertaken to consider possible liquidity pressures which could arise foliowing a significant
natural catastrophe, including trust fund requirements. These tests are considered by the Risk &
Capital Committee in order to determine that liquidity risk has been mitigated to a satisfactory level.

The table below provides defails of debt securities by effective maturity date.

1 year or less 1-5 years 5-10 years 10-20 years 20+ years Total

sm sm Sm Sm &m &m

2022 Total 189 615 285 145 51 1,265

2021 Total 104 618 381 207 a5 1.39%
f) Capital Risk

Capital risk is the risk of failing to hold sufficient capital to meet regulatory or rating agency
requirements, inefficient allocation of capital, or failure to obtain adequate return on capital.

There 1s a quarterly process whereby the capital tearn model held capital against the requirements
for the Group and report the results to the Risk & Capital Committee. There is also a margin of
capital which is held in excess of the requirements and regular engagement with the regulators and
rating agencies.

Capital management

The main requlated undertakings in the Group are MIICL and MCAP. MIICL is subject to supervision
by the PRA under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and in accordance with the Solvency
I1 regulations.

For MCAP, The Society of Lloyd’s is a regulated undertaking and subject to supervision by the
Prudential Regulatory Authority ("PRA") under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, and in
accordance with Solvency 11 Framework., Within this supervisory framework, Lloyd's applies capital
reguirements at member level and centrally to ensure that Lioyd's would comply with the Solvency 11
requirements, and beyond that to meet its own financial strenath, licence and ratings objectives.
Every member is required to hold capital at tloyd’s, which is held in trust and known as FAL. These
funds are intended primarily to cover circumstances wheare syndicate assets prove insufficient to
meet participating members’ underwriting liabilities. The level of FAL that Lloyd’s requires a member
to maintain is determined by Uoyd's based on PRA requirements and resource criteria. FAL has
regard to a number of factars including the nature and amount of risk to be underwritten by the
member and the assessment of the reserving risk in respect of business that has been undarwritten.
The Managing Agent is able to make a call on the members' FAL to meet liquidity requirements or to
settle losses.

The Group actively manages capital to ensure that it can continually meet its regulatory capital

requirements while afso maintaining sufficient capital to retain finandal strength. Management
monitor the performance of all aspects of the business to ensure profitability 1s managed aganst
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risks and that the finandal and capital position of the Group is not compromised,

Operational Risk

Operational Risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadeguate or faled internal processes, people and
systems or from external events.

Key controls that mitigate each risk on our risk register have been identified together with an
appropriate control owner, Each guarter the conirol owner is required to confirm that the controls
they are responsible for have been in place and operating effectively during the previous quarter.
Controls relating to the production of financial information, which is governed by the Sarbanes Oxley
Act, applicable to the Group due to being a subsidiary of a US parent company, are tested annually
by our Iinternal Audit team. Senior managers are also requirad to answer a quarterly questionnaire
designed to identify whether there are any changes to processes, or any events which might impact
Markel's Financial Statements. Each quarter's confrmation process is summarised by Risk
Management in a meme to the President, the Finance Director, the Chief Operating Officer and the
Chief Underwriting Officer.

An Indident Log {(including Operational Losses and Near Misses} has been compiled. This records
and guantifies fosses and “near missaes” arising from or exacerbated by failure of people, processes
and systems as well as those caused by external (non-insurance) events, and assists in identifying
Risk Events, Key Risk Indicators and alsc controls which would mitigate a recurrence of such losses.

The Chief Risk Officer reports on a number of areas of Operational Risk at the quarterly Risk &
Capital Commitiee and material issues are summarised to the Board.

Group risk falls under Operational Risk and is the risk that actions or events within one part of Markel
adversely affect the Group.

It is considered that being part of a larger, experignced insurance group, with censiderable financial
resources and sound reputation, is a strength. MINT has a number of controls, such as internal
committees that consider the interests of the Group and other MINT legal entities and endeavour to
communicate the MINT perspective to Markel, with whom an excellent relationship 1s enjoyed.

The risk of the Group being part of MINT is also considered. The policy is always to consider the

interests of the Group, and this single risk strategy, risk management approach, operational
procedures and standards are effective in ensuring that each entity is treated equitably.

Markel International Holdings Limited



Annuat Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the vear ended 31 December 2022

4 Analysis of underwriting result

a) Analysis of business by class
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Written Earned Claims Operating Reinsurance
Premiums Premiums Incurred Expenses Balance Total
2022 sm o §m sm Ssm sm $m .
Direct Insurance
Marine, aviation anc F 7 3
transport 482 447 {471} {116} 76 (843
Acadent and Health 3 3 [ (1 - B
Fire ang other damage to g 413 { ()
property 120 113 {573 {41} {19} {4}
Thire party fiability 751 588 {404} {221 {20) 43
Miscellarcons {2 174 {88} (44} (42) -
Total Direct 1,555 1,425 {1,014} (423) (5) (17}
Ranstrance 397 338 (105} {122} {(75) 36
Total 1,652 1,763 (1,119 {545) {80) 19
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Written Earned Claims Operating Reinsurance
Premiums Premiums Incurred Expenses Balance Total
2021 sm tm sm Hm <m Sm
Direct Insurance
Marine, aviation and - ;
transport 356 335 {341} (87 S9 6
Acadent and Health 11 13 (25} (5 5 {11
Fire and other darmage o N P . .
property 121 112 (483 (41) () 22
Third pargy habdity 514 570 {250} (212) {513 47
Miscelianeous 174 151 {843 {45) (26} {4}
Total Direct 1,276 1,181 {758} {390) 27 60
Remsiyrance 270 296 {155) {108) (25) 8
Total 1,546 1,477 {813) {498) 2 68
b) Analysis of premium by geographic area by destination:
Gross Writteny Premiums
2022 2021
$m $m
United States 406 325
United Kingdom 754 585
Europe {excluding UK} 103 72
Rest of the world 507 393
Canada 182 161
Total 1,952 1,546
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Analysis of premium by origin:

Gross Written Premiums Before Taxr:tti):lt:
2022 2021 2022 2021
sm sm $m sSm
United Kingdom
Direct 746 o18 118 96
United States
Direct 131 105 (51} (11}
Europe {excluding UK}
Direct 68 41 {5 {8}
Rest of World
Direct 1 1 - 1
Lloyd's
Direct 609 5t1 {79) (18}
1,555 1,276 (17} _ﬁg
Relnsurance 36 &
Investment return {186) 71
Qther income 83 g0
Cther operating expenses and charges {74y {843
Foreign exchange gains:(losses) 25 (23
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation (123) 143

Direct insurance written in the United States comprises Excess and Surplus Lines business written in
those states where the Company is an authorised insurer.

Movement in prior year's provision for claims outstanding

The Company experienced

a net favourable loss development in the year of $81m {2021, $166m).

Net operating expenses

2022 2021

sm sm

Acquisitian costs 375 293
Change in deferred acquisition costs {32) (43
Administrative expenses 202 209
Gross operating expenses 545 498
Reinsurance commissions and profit participation {200} {170)
Net operating expenses 345 328

Included in administrative expenses is auditors remuneration of $1.9m for the audit of the Group and
$0.3m for the audit of the Company (2021, was $0.0m for both the Group and the Company, as this
is the first year of consolidation).

Total commissions for direct insurance accounted for during the year amounted to $302m (2021,

$244m).
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7 Investment income

2022 2621
. 5m sm
Income fram investments - o 45 38
Gains on the realisation of swestments 7 . __i
Yotal o - s2 w1
8 Investment expenses and charges
2022 2021
$m $m
Inuestiment management expenses inciding interest 7 3
Amorfisation of fixed mterest securities 3 4
Laosses on the realisation of investments 1 3
Total o 11 15
9 Investment return
2022 2021
5m sm
[nvestment neome - 57 a1
Investment expenses and charges (11} (15)
Unrealised {lossesy/gains on investments (227} 45
Return on investments (186) 71
10 Other income
2022 2021
$m =~ sm
Cansultancy income - o 14 16
Deferred income 1 1
Service fee revenue 68 73
Total other income 83 90
11 Other operating expenses and charges
2022 2021
sm Sm
Amortisation of geodwili and ntangibles 1 1
Impairment of goodwilt and mtangibles 1 2
Sarvice fee axpense 68 73
Debt interest 4 8
Total other operating expenses and charges 74 84
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Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

2022 2021
e L ) e o o $m sm
Profit on crdinary activities before taxaton 15 stated after charging:
Rentals under cperating leases - land and buddings e 10
Deprecation 5 )
Taxation
Analysis of charge for the year
Total taxation charge in the Incorme Statement: Non-Technical Account.
2022 2021
*m sm
Current Taxation
Current tax charge/{credit) on profit/{loss) for the penod - UK corporation tax {(2) 33
Cudrrant tax charge/{credit) on profit/{loss} for the period - Foreign corporation tax 3 {4
Current tax charge/{credit) on profit/{loss) for the penod - US corporation tax 20 (25}
Currant tax credit on profit for the period - US corporation tax settled by Markel Group Ing. (209 25
under the tax sharing agreement
Adjustrment in respect of prior periods 2 -
Total current tax charge I 3 - 29
Deferred Taxation
QOrigination and reversal of tming differences (31 {S)
Adjustment in respact of prior penods - -
Rate change [{3)] -
Deferred tax charge on profit “or the penod - US corporation tax (25) 76
Deferred tax c:‘eijﬁ§ on profit for the penod - US corporation tax settled by Markel Group Inc, J5 763
under the tax sharing agreement o ST
Total deferred tax credit (37} (5)
Taxation charge on profit on ordinary activities {34} 24

Markel international Holdings Limited
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Factors affecting the taxation charge for the year

The taxation charge assessed for the vyear is lower (2021, lower} than the standard rate of
corporation taxation in the UK of 19.00% (2021, 19.00%). The differences are explained below:

2022 2021
Sm sm
Profit on ordinary activities befare taxation (1333 143
Profit on orjanarjy_actlwt}es multlphed by standard effective rate of corporation taxation in the o (25) h __);
UK of 19.00% (2021, 19.00%)
Effects of
Diadend mncome not taxable (L (20)
US carporation tax 20 (25)
US carporation tax settled by Markel Group nc. unaer the tax shanng agreament {20) 25
Orher permaneant differances 3 z
Praor yeal dtjuslnend 2
Tax rate differential {5} {1}
Rate change TG -
Foreign tax cradits deferrad (2) {1)
Lovd's syndicate underwriting achivity taxable on a year of account declaration basis® - {(2)
Qther - -
Total tax charge for the year i (34) 5

* Lloyd's syndicate underwriting activity will be subject to FX rate differentials between current and deferred tax 7

Deferred tax balances are expected to reverse withing the next 12 months in line with FRS102 29.27,

The Company has made an election in accordance with IRS code §953(d) to be treated as a US
company for US tax purposes effective as of 1 January 2018, The current statutory tax rate for US
corporate income tax purposes is 21%. The Company has entered into a tax sharing agreement with
Markel, under which Markel has agread to bear the net US tax expense generated by the Company,

effective as of 1 January 2018.

Directors' remuneration

The Directors’ remuneration is paid by Markel International Services Limited ("MISL") toe Directors for
thelr services in relation to the companies in the Group. The following remuneration was their

calculated apportionment to both the Group and the Company:

2022 2021 2022 2021

Group Group Company Company

$ $ 3 $

Aggregate remuneration 4,253,105 5,060,976 10,084 11,747
Highest paid Director

2022 2021 2022 2021

Group Group Company Company

$m $m $m $m

Aggregate remuneration 1,073,550 1,252,644 3,329 3,706
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15 Staff numbers and costs
The Company had no employees during the year.,

2022 2021
Staff costs during the year (including Directors) e sm sm
Wages and salaries 146 139
Soaal secunty costs io 14
Other pensicn costs 12 12
Share-based payments 5 7
Totat 180 174

The average number of employees within the Group, including Directors, in each month in the
financiat year was 1,002 {2021, 905).

16 Investments

Investments in group undertakings and participating 2022 2021
interests £m sm
Cpening balance £15 615
Closing baiance 615 615

Details of the investments in which the Company holds maore than 5% of the nominal value of any
class of share capital, direct or indirect, are shown below. There have been no impairments
identified during the year.

Subsidiary Undertakings & Registered Office

(Registered office is 20 Fenchurch Street, London, Country of

FC3M 3AZ uniess otherwise staied) Registration Holding Principal activity
Markel Capital Holdings Limited (MCH} UK 100% Ordinary Share Holdig Company
Markel Capital Limitad UK 100% Ordirary Share ' General Insurance
Marke! International Insurance Company (MIICL) UK 100% Ordinary Share ' General Insurance
Markel International Labuan Limited Malaysia 100% Ordinary Share ' Insurance Agent
Brinnby Centr2, Lot 47 kidan Muhibbal 87000 Service Company

Labusn R T, Malaysig

Markel International Singapore PTE Limited Simgapore 100% Ordmary Share - Insurance Agent
138 Marketl Street £04-02, 048945, Singapcre Service Company
Terra Nova Pension Trustee Limited UK 100% Ordinary Share  © Pension Trustec
Markel International Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 100% Ordinary Share Insurance Agency

Office Munber 4511 45/F. The Lee Gartens, 33 Hvsan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hona Kong

Markel Equine SAS France 1007 Ordinary Share - Managing General Agent
La Fermie de FEghse, 14130 Perrafitte er: Auge, France

Alterra Capital UK Limited (ACUL) UK 100% Ordinary Share  ~ Holding Company
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Exali AG

Frans-Kobirger Sasse § 86157, Augshivg, Germany
Markel International (Dubai) Limited

Freanct Bulding 7. jeval 3. Dubar International Financial
Centar (LHFCL PO Rox 506914, Dubar, Unitod Arab
Eimiratas

Markel Servicios S.A
S} PG o, S N BUSHOE AES Artientind

Galleon Marine Insurance Agency Limited

Markel Services India Private Limited (MSIPL)

F03 Great Eastern Gardens, Kanjur Marg (WWast) Mumbal,
00098

FSB Insurance Service Limited

Purbeck UK Limited

20-22 Werock Road, London, NI JGL

Caunce Q'Hara Limited

Caunce O’Hara & Company Limited
Abbey Protection Limited (APL)
Markel Syndicate Management Limited (MSM}

MISL {Delaware) Limited {MISLDL)
1209 Crange Street, Wimington, Delaware, 19801, (SA

Markel Underwriting Services Limited
Alterra at Lloyds’s Limited (AAL)
Alterra Corporate Capital 2 Limited
Alterra Corporate Capital 3 Limited
Alterra Corporate Capital 4 Limited
Alterra Corporate Capital 5 Limited
Alterra Corporate Capital 6 Limited
Markel Protection Limited {MPL)
ACCTX UK Limited

Markel Consultancy Services Limited {MCSL)
Accountax Law Limited

Markel Law LLP
82 King Streel, Manchester, M2 #HVQ

ACCTX Consulting Limited (ACL)

Markel International Services Limited

Germany

Urnted Arab
Emirates

Argentina

UK

UK

UK
UK
UK

United States
of Amernica

UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK

UK

UK

UK

1 hgle! by MO 5 held by a4PL
eld oy MIIC L s hell by AL
3 ki oy MM 7 held by M7

4 el ov ACULL w bl by MISOC

51% Ordinary Share

100%: Ordinary Share

106w Ordmary Share

1007 Ordinary Share
99.99% Ordnary
Share

/0% Ordinary Share

10% Ordinary Share

100 Ordinary Share

100% Ordinary Share
100% Ordinary Share
100% Crdinary Share

100% ordinary Share

100% Ordinary Share
100% Ordinary Share
100% Ordinary Shars
100% Ordinary Share
100% Ordinary Shars
100% Ordinary Shara
100% Qrdmary Share
100% Ordinary Share
100% Ordinary Share
100% Qrdinary Share
100% Ordinary Share

100°% Ordinary Share

100% Ordinary Share

180% Ordinary Share

Insurance Intermediary

Insurance Agent
Service Compainy

Business Services

Insurance Intermetiary
Insurance Agent Service
Company

Insurance Intermediary
Ganeral Insurance
Commercial Insurance
Broker

Commeraal Insurance
Braker

Holding Company
Lioyd's Mangging Agent

Haolding Company

Group Expense Services
Helding Company
General Insurancs
General Instrance
General Insurance
General Insurance
General insurance
General Insurance
Dormant

Tax Consultancy Services
Dormant

Legal Services

Pormant

Group Expense Services

Janjer Limited, EC Insurance Company Limited, Markel Europe Limited, and Effective Tax Solutions Limited

Markel International Holdings cimited

i
L)



Annual Report and Consolidated Financal Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

were dissolved during the year.
Parent undertaking declaration of guarantee under Section 479C of the Companies Act 2006

Markel International Holdings Limited has provided a guarantee to the Markel entiies listed below
{subsidiary companias), in respect of the financial year 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022,

This guarantee has the effect that:

1. The pdarent guarantees all outstanding abilities to which the subsidiary companies are subject at the end
of the financial year to which the guarantee relates, until they are satisfied in full; and

2. the guarantee is enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom the subsidiary
company is liable in respect of those liabihties.

The quarantee enables the below companies to obtain an exemption from the Companies Act 2006 audit
requirements for their individual accounts, by virtue of Section 479C of the Act.

Company hame Company number
Markel Capital Holdings Limited 06722095
Marke! International Services Limited 0093257/
Markel {UK) Limited 02430992
Caunce O'Hara & Company Limuted 036765983
Caunce O’'Hara Limited 08426762
Abbey Protection Limited 06352358
Markel Protection Limited 04959808
Markel Consultancy Services Limited 08246256
Alterra Capital UK Limited 05800142
Markel Law LLP OC325244
Alterra at Lloyd’s Limited 03304600
Markel Underwriting Services Limited 03668339
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Other listed financial investments

Market Vaiue Cost
2022 2021 2022 2021
- _ %m $m sm_ $m
ts:ggs and gther vanable yield securitizs and urits in umt 450 484 307 184
Debt secunties and other fixed ncame securities 1,265 1,385 1,384 1365
Short ‘s‘erm investments {debt secunines and commeraal 114 4z 114 47
_papery . L e ———
Totat 1,869 1,921 1,805 1,591
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2022
$m $m sm Sm
;ZK?;(:S and other vartable yield securties and units n it 489 1 ; 90
Short term investments 39 75 - i14
Debt securines and other fixed income secuniies 445 820 - 1,28%
Total 973 836 - 1,869
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2021
__f_J T B s$m sSm sm $m
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit 483 1 : 484
trusts
Short term investments 42 - - 42
Delt secunties and other fixed wicome securities 134 1,261 - 1,335
Total 559 1,262 - 1,921
Cash and Cash Equivalents
2022 2021
&m $m
Money market funds 397 243
Querseas funds 159 180
Deposits with credit nstitutions 874 o552
Total 1,230 1,075
Included within Cash and Cash Equivalents are restricted assets of $390m (2021, $312m)
17 Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations and
reinsurance operations
- Direct Insurance Reinsurance
Operations Operations
2022 2021 2022 2021
$m sm Sm $m
Amounts gwed by feliow. Marke! subsidiaries 41 52 16 2
Amounts owed by intermediaries 531 500 294 1oz
Total 572 552 260 164
B
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18 Deferred taxation
The provision for deferred taxation has been made on a full provision hasis. The deferred taxation
asset comprises amounts arising on:

2022 2021
sm Sm
Gifference betwaen accumulated depreciation and capital allowances (1) (1)
Pansion (16} (3}
Share based payment costs deductible in future penods 3 2
Underwnting resulls niot taxable unti declared a6 40
Foreign tax credit carried forward 5 -
UK tax losses cartied forward 4 )
Revaluation of bonds to far market value i {93
Other tuming differences B -
Total asset 52 24

The movement in the deferred taxation liability during the year is as follows:

Deferred Pension
Tax Tax

Asset Liability Total Total
2022 2022 2022 2021
sm sm sm $m
At beginning of year 37 (83 24 23
Income Statement credit - current 3¢ 1 31 5
Income Statement ¢redit - prior and rate change & - & -
Movement Iy Statement of Comprehensive Income - (8) (8} {4)
At end of year 68 {15) 53 24

From 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate has increased to 25%. Deferred taxation in respect of
timing differences expected to reverse after 1 April 2023 has been calculated at a deferred tax rate
of 25% (2021, 25%). Where the reversal period was identified as being prior to 1 April 2023 a
deferred tax rate of 19% has been used.

19 Other debtors

2022 2021

_ sm sm

Amaints owed by fellow Markel subsidiaries 11 12
Current taxation 16

Other debtars le 41

Total 39 53
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20 Tangible Assets

Total
Motor IT Leasehold Tangible
Vehicles Equipment Improvemaents Assets
$m $m Sm $m
Cost
At begirning of vear - 41 31 /2
“areign exchange on apening balance - {5 {3 {8}
Additions in the yvear - 2 - 2
Disposals 1 the vear - B - -
At the end of the year T mmwi;éhmmmw 28 o V65
Accumulated depreciation
At the beginning of the year - (32) (13} {45}
Faoreign exchange on opening balance - 4 1 5
Charge for the year (4} {13 {5}
At the end of the year L - (32} - (13) 7 o (45)
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 I s o2
At 31 December 2021 - 9 18 27
21 Intangible assets
o e T Brand and Tatal
Goodwill Customer Lists Intangible Assets
&m Sm sm
Cost N ) R o o
At 31 December 2021 12 11 23
Foreign exchange on opening balance {1 (1) (2}
At 31 December 2022 11 10 21
Amortisation and impairment losses T . -
At 31 December 2621 (1 (83 (17
Impairment loss - - -
Charge for the year ~ (1) {1}
Foreign exchange on opening balance 1 1 2
At 31 December 2022 {10) (8 (16}
Net;, Ebek valuev - B - o . M . R -
At 31 December2022 R B _ s
At31December2021 1 5 6

The Company fasts goodwill annually for impairment, or more freguently if there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired.
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Share capital and reserves
The share capital of the Company is as follows:

Called up, allotted and fully paid

1 ordinary shares of $1.00, at end of year

2022 2021
$ $
1 1

Technical provisions

The Group has considered fong-tail claims, incuding environmental and iatent injury claims, in
establishing the liability for claims outstanding. The Group believes it has established adequate
provisions for such claims, althcugh the ultimate liability may be more or less than tha reserves
actually held by the Group, and considers that were future losses associated with those caims to

arise, they would not have a material adverse impact on the financial position: of the Group.

2022 2021
Provision for claims Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net
outstanding S $m <m sm sm m
At 1 January 3,103 {1,254) 1,849 3,108 (1,306) 1,802
Movement in provision 324 7 331 25 49 74
HMaovement due to foragn (145) 43 (102) (30} 3 (27
exchange
Total noverrent i reserves 179 50 229 {5) 52 47
At 31 December 3,282 (1,204) 2,078 3,103 {1,254) 1,84%
2022 2021

Provision for unearned Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net
premiums $m sm sm $m $m sm
At 1 January G613 {258) 355 545 {239) 356
Movement i provision 189 (86) 1032 69 (21} 48
Movement due to foreign
axchange (34 E (23) {0 2 s
Total movement i reserves 157 {(77) 80 58 {19 49
At 31 December 770 (335) 435 613 (258) 355

I 2022 2021
Deferred acquisition costs $m $m
At 1 January 69 66
Change 1n deferred acquisition costs 32 4
Movement due to foreign exchange (53 113
At 31 December 96 69

Marke! Internaticnal Holdings timited
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Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations and
reinsurance operations

Direct Insurance Reinsurance

Operations Operations

2022 2021 2022 2021

sm tm gm0 sm

Amounts owed to other Markel subsicharies 12 14 552 489
Amounts owed t¢ infermedianes 185 129 114 30
Total 177 143 666 569

Other creditors, including taxation and social security

2022 2621

$m $m

Current taxation - 24
Cther creditors 54 59
Notes Payable - 70
Total 54 193

Notes payable was a loan with Markel Group Inc., and was fully repaid during the year.

Balances payable to other creditors fall due for payment within one year of the reporting date.

Pension Scheme

The Group contributes to a pension schame {the “Terra Nova Insurance Company Limited Pension
and Life Assurance Scheme”) providing benefits based on final pensienable pay. On 11 November
2008 an agreement was signed resulting in a bulk transfer of assets and liabilities (amounting to
£11.5m) from the Uoyd’s Superannuation Fund ("LSF"} into the Terra Nova Insurance Company
Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme (“the Scheme”}. With effect from that date, the Scheme
was divided into two legally segregated sections: the "TN Fund” and the new "LSF Fund”.

The contributions to this defined benefit scheme are determined by the Group with agreement of the
Trustee and in conjunction with an independent gualified actuary.

The contribution to the Scheme for the period was $0.4m {2021, $0.0m). The assets of the Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, being invested in listed United Kingdom and overseas
equities, fixed interest securities and cash deposits. An escrow agreement has been put in place
which requires the Group to make additional contributions to the LSF Fund shouid MIICL's AM Best
cradit rating fall below A-,

A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 30 September 2021, which showed that the market value
of the Scheme’s assets was E£177.3m. This actuarial valuation determined that the assets of the
scheme at the valuation date represented 113% of the accrued liabilities based on the projected final
pensionable salaries. This was equivalent to a surplus of £23.9m.

The Group will meet the cost of any augmentations to rmembers’ benefits as they fall due and the
Group will meet the administrative expenses of operating the Scheme and the Pension Protection
Fund Levy. The Scheme is closed to new members.

Marke! Internat onal Holdings Limited 58
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On 1 April 2012, the Group closed the Scheme to future service accrual. Those employees affected
were invited to join the Markel International Pension Scheme. In accordance with paragraph 28.22 of
FRS102, the Group is of the view that it is able to recognise a Scheme surpius as a defined benefit
nlan asset as 1t helieves it will be able to recover the surplus in line with paragraphs 11(b} and 12 of
IFRIC 14, via a gradual settlement of liabilities. At 31 December 2022 there was a gross surplus of
$63m (347m net of deferred tax liability) on the Scheme that has been recognised in the accounts.

An independent actuarial FRS102 valuation of both the TN Fund and the LSF Fund was carried out as

at 31 December 2022 using the projected unit method,

The principal assumptions used by the actuary were:

2022 2021
{iscount rate 5.00% 1.80%
Inflation assumption (RPI) 3.20% 3.35%
Deferred persion revajuation (CPT) 2.50% 2.65%;
Salary increase assumption 3.25% 3.40%
Maim pension increase assumption {R2I max 5% p.a.) 3.00% 3.20%
The assumed life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:
ST o " LSF Fund " TN Fund LSFFund TN Fund
e 2022 ..2022 2021 2021
Current pensiconers:
Men 24.0 24.5 24.5 25.1
Women 25.9 6.6 25.3 26.8
Future pensioners:
Man 24.9 25.4 29.2 26.7
[Wornen e e 2B8 2RY . 2BO 8.5
The assets in the Scheme were:
LSF Fund TN Fund LSF Fund TN Fund
2022 2022 2021 2021
$m $m tm $m
Eelutes 13 60 17 82
Dabt sacuniies 1 &1 10 58
Corporate bords - - 15 37
Other 4 15 5 19
Cash - 1 - -
Total market value of assets 34 137 47 196
Attuar ial value of liaulity (24} {86) (43} (167}
Surplus in the Scneme 12 51 4 29
Ralated defarred tax hability (3} {133 () (7}
Net Pension Asset 9 38 3 22

54
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The equity and bond investments which are held in Scheme assets are quoted and are valued at the
current bid price.

Reconciliation of present Total LSF Fund TN Fund Total LSF Fund TN Fund
value of Scheme liabilities 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
$m $m_ sgm_sm sm sm
At beginning of year 210 43 167 221 45 1756
HMavement due o foreign . .
s rehinnge (23) 4 (19) {2} i1 (1
Revaiued opanmg position 187 39 148 219 44 175
Current serwce cost - - - - B
Interest cost 4 i1 3 3 1 2
Benefits pad (5) {1} (4} (7) h (6}
Actuarial gain (78) {17} {61} (5) {1) {4}
At end of year 198 22 86 210 43 167
e AL e T
value of Scheme assets
sm __5m gm_ $m $m $m
At beginning of year 243 47 184 242 45 157
Movement due ta foregn -
exchange (27) (3) (22) (2) : (2)
Revalued opening position 216 42 174 240 45 195
Income on plan assets 8 i 3 4 1 3
Employer contribubions - - - - -
Benefits paid {5) (1 {4) (8) {1} (73
Actuandaf {foss)/gain (44) (8) (36) 7 2 5
At end of year 171 34 137 243 47 196

Scheme assets do not include any of the Company's own financial instruments or any property
occupied by the Company.

The income on plan assets is determined by considering retumns available on the assets underlying
the current investment policy. Yields on fixed interest investments are based on discount rate.
Return on equities reflect the long term real rates of return experienced in the market. The actual
return on Scheme assets in the year was a loss of $40.8m (2021, gain of $10.3m}

Movement In surplus o2 022 | 2022 Zomt o a021 2021
sm Sm sm sm sm sm
Sueplus i the Scheme at the
beginning of the year 33 4 29 22 1 21
212:7\2{:;? due to foreign (4) (1) 3 ) i i
Revalued opening position 30 4 26 22 1 21
Movement in the year:
Emplayer contributians - - B - B .
Current service costs - - - - - -
MNet return on assels - - - - - -
Actuanal gain 33 g 25 11 3 8
e e " e 12 51 3 : 29
Related deferred tax hability (16} (3 8] (8} (13 (7
Net Pension Asset 47 9 38 25 3 22

Marke! International Holdings txmited &0
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The actuarial gain recognised on the pension scheme is $39.5m (2021, gain of $15.6m}. The
movement on deferrad tax relating to the pension asset is a credit of $8.4m (2021, credit of $4.3m).

Analysis of amount Total LSF Fund TN Fund Total LSF Fund TN Fund
recoegnised in Statement 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
of Comprehensive Income Sm $m Sm sm $m Sm
Return on plan assets

exciuding interest mgome (44) (8) (36) 7 2 5
{hanges 0 assumphans

undlerlying the Scheme

habibties 78 17 61 5 1 4
Gain recognised in

Statement of 33 8 25 12 3 g

Comprehensive Income

The cumulative amount of gain recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income is $27.8m

(2021, loss of $5.7m).

Analysis of net return on Pension Scheme 20:; 2°$2nl‘
Income on plan assers 4 3
Interest on pension liabilites (33 (3}
Net return 1 -

The movement in the deferred taxation liability on the Pension Scheme during the year 1s as follows:

2022 2021

sm $m

At beginning of year (8} (4}
Income Statement tax charge i -
Tax cradit taken to Statement of Comprehensive Income (3} (4}
At end of year R (15} (8}

An indication of the sensitivity of the pension asset to changes in the most material assumptions is
included in the table below. The sensitivity is based on one item changing while all other items are

held constant,

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Total LSF Fund TN Fund Total LSF Fund TN Fund
$m sm $m $m $m sm

Surpius in the scheme at the - s' 3
end of the vear &3 12 51 % 3 22
minus 2.25% discount rate 59 11 48 22 2 20
plus 0.25% discount rate 57 13 54 44 & 38
minus 0.25% inflation rate 67 13 54 40 5 35
plus 0.25% inflation rate 51 11 50 2/ 3 24
Mortality - 1 year age rating 60 11 49 28 3 23

tMarke! International Holdirgs Limited
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27 Funds at Lloyd’s

The amount of funds supporting the Syndicate’s underwriting at Lloyd’s are set out below:

2022 2021
£m £m

valuahion of assets held withim securty arrangaments:
nvostments 725 /o4
Overall promum bmit permitted 500 436
Jeerall premam Bmit allocated 500 486

The amount of funds supporting Syndicate 1699 underwriting at Lloyd’s is set out below:

2022
£m

Valuation af assets held withn security arrangements:
[nvestiments i5
Overall premium bt permatied 130
Cverall premusm bt allocated 33

These funds were provided on the 31st December 2021.

28 Funds subject to Lioyd's premium trust funds

All assets and liabilities within the Statement of Financial Position are subject to Lloyd’s Premium
Trust Funds, apart from those arising within the Company itself, as identified below:

2022 2021

sm sm

Shares and other vanable yield secuirities and units in unit trusts 22 35
Debt secunties and ather fixed ncome securities 54 -
Cash and cash equivalents 33 35
Other assets 144 124

Funds held under Lloyds Premium Trust Funds are held in trust for the benefit of policyholders and
may only be used for the settlement of claims and underwriting expenses until such time as Loyd's
authorises a release of profit or surplus from the Premium Trust Funds.

o
v

Markel international Haldings Limited
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Contingencies and capital commitments

The Group, as the leassholder, had the following commitments to pay rentals, analysed according to
the period in which the lease expires:

2022 2021

sSm %Sm

Expiring wattin one year E 1
Caplialy Delweet! DIE aNa five years 3t 36
éxri\ig ‘after maie than five years B o B mwmji 54

83 100

The Group has outstanding Habilities, covered by certain investad assets, in respect of outstanding
letters of credit amounting to $10.4m (2021, $10.9m).

Certain investments are deposited in the UK and overseas, 1n accordance with local laws and
regulations, as security for policyholders.

An escrow agreement was put in place in connection with the LSF Fund section of the Terra Nova
Insurance Company Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, whereby the Group is required to
make additional contributions to the LSF Fund Section should the AM best credit rating of MIICL fall
below A-.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had placed deposits at Lloyd's with a carrying value of $20.0m in
support of the Group's underwriting activities on Syndicate 1639 in relation to its participation on the
2022 YOA.

Related party information

MIICL underwrites a reinsurance contract with the Syndicate to cover Marine & Energy classes. The
contract was priced based on MINT's expected loss over the prior 20 year period, weighted for re-
underwriting and normalised CAT (actual CAT experience replaced with RMS/AAL results). External
benchmark pricing was also used as a comparison, and a layer option proposed to sit beneath the
existing externally placed Marine & Energy reinsurance. The pricing was further inflated to assume a
90% ultimate loss ratio. The final agreed structure of $7.5m xs $2.5m excess of loss ("XOL™)
renews] 1st January 2022 on a Losses Occurring During basis to match the overlying contract with
12 free reinstatements.

MIICL also underwrites an additional contract with the Syndicate to cover Trade Credit & Political
Risk classes. The contract was priced hased on MINT's expected loss over the prior 12 year period.
External benchmark pricing was also used as a comparison, with & layer option proposed to align
with & new external MINT multi-class reinsurance placement, and beneath the existing externaily
nlaced Trade Credit, Political Risk and Surety reinsurance, and placed 80% due to an external quota
share af 20%. The piicing was further inflated to assume a Y0% utimate fosy ratio. The final agreed
structure of $7.5m x5 $2.5m XOL incepted 1st January 2022 on a Risks Attaching basis to match the
overlying contract with 12 free reinstatements.

MIICL has a 80% whole account guota share arrangement with Markel Bermuda Limited ("MBL"),
covering MiICLs Specialty business.

MCAP entered Into a quota share reinsurance agreement with MBL to cede 8049% of 1ts participation
on the Syndicate's 2016 to 2022 YOA, effective from 1 January of each respective year. Following the
closure of the Syndicate's 2020 YOA MBL shall pay MCAP its 80% share of the loss in accordance
with the agreement which will be settied during 2023. During the year MBL settled its sharg of the

Markel International Holdimgs Limited
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loss on the 20019 YOA following its closure at 31 December 2021,

MCAP provided capital by way of Funds at Lloyds ("FAL"™) for Volante Capitai Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd
("Volante™) for Syndicate 1699, managed by Aste for its 2022 YOA, MCAP acis as a corporate
member and has a 25.75% participation an the 2022 YOA which took effect from 1st January 2022.
Volante is backed by Nephila Capital. During 2018 Markel Group acquired 1009% of the squity of
Nephila Holding Ltd. Markel Group is the ultimate parent cormpany of Nephila Holding Ltd.

MCAP enterad into a quota share reinsurance agreement with Herseshoe Re Limited to cade 100%
of its particpation on Syndicate 1699's 2022 YOA, effective from 1 January 2022,

MISL acts as the sarvice company for payment of all expenses, and recharges costs to other
companies in the Group and Markel Group. The Group also receives recharges from Markel Services
Inc ("MSI™} in respect of shared services provided from the US,

Uitimate holding company

The Company's immediate parent company is Marke! International Holdings (Delaware) Limited. The
Company's ultimate holding company is Markel Group Inc., which is incorperatad in the USA. Copies
of the ultimate holding company’s consolidated Financial Statements may be obtained from 4521
Highwoods Parkway, Glen Allen, Virginia 23060, USA. The website address is www.markelcorp.com.

Events since the reporting date

On 14th March 2023, the Company's subsidiaries entered into a Loss Portfolio Transfer transaction
with Marco Capital regarding the Group's portfolio of UK Motor insurance claims. This is not expected
to have a material impact on the consolidated results of the Company.

Markel International Holdings Limited 6



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MARKEL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the original parent Company and revised Group financial statements (“the revised
financial statements”™) of Markel International Holdings Limited (the “Company™) for the year ended
31 December 2022 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement (Technical Account), the
Consolidated Income Statement (Non-Technical Account), the Consclidatcd Statcment of
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Company Statement of Financial
Position and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion:

e the revised Group financial statements give a true and fair view, seen as at the date the original
financial statements were approved, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and
of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

o the original parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, seen as at the date the
original financial statements were approved, of the state of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022;

» the revised Group and original parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland seen as at the date the original financial statements
were approved;

» the revised Groyp financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006 as it has effect under the Companies (Revision of Defective Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 (*the Regulations™); and

s the original Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 failed to comply with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 in the respects identified by the directors in the
statement contained in the supplementary note.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)™)
and applicable law, OQur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient
and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter — revision of note 16 of the Financial Statements

We draw attention to the disclosures made in the supplementary note concerning the need to revise note
16 of the financial statements as the original audited financial statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2022 included relerence to section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 but omitted to
include reference to section 479A of the Companies Act 2006. This disclosure is required under section
479A(2)(d) of the Companies Act 2006, within the consolidated accounts of the parent undertaking, in
order that its subsidiaries may take advantage of the exemption from audit.

The revised financial statements replace the original financial statements approved by the directors on
28 September 2023 and consist of the attached supplementary note together with the original financial
statements which were circulated to members on 28 September 2023. They have been prepared under
the Companies (Revision of Defective Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (“the Regulations™)
and accordingly do not take account of events which have taken place after the date on which the
original financial statements were approved on 28 September 2023, Our previous report was signed on



that date. We have not performed a subsequent events review for the period from the date of our
previous report to the date of this report. Qur opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the revised financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded
that the Group and the Company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability
to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the original financial
statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business
model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or
ability to continue operations over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work;

s we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate; and

¢ we have not identified, and concur with the directors™ assessment that there is not, a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant
doubt on the Group or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern
period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
above conclusions are not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (*“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions
that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud.
Our risk assessment procedures included:

s Enquiring of directors, the audit committee, and the legal, risk and compliance functions, and
inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent
and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the Group’s channel for
“whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged
fraud,

* Reading Board, audit committee, and other relevant committee meeting minutes;
» Considering remuneration incentive schemes; and
e Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications
of fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet profit targets and
our overall knowledge of the control environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of
management override of controls, in particular the risk that Group and component management may be
in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and
judgements such as the valuation of gross and net claims outstanding - IBNR. On this audit we do not
believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of limited estimation involved in
accruing premium income.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

We performed the following procedures, including:



e Identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope components based on
risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included
those posted to cash accounts or journals posted by individuals who typically do not make
journal entries, including post-closing and period end journals; and

» Using our actuarial specialists to assess the appropriateness and consistency of the methods and
assumptions used to estimate the valuation of gross and net claims outstanding IBNR for 30%
of the reserving classes and assessing the result of bias in Valuation of claims outstanding
(IBNR)

Identifying and responding fo risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and
regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect
on the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience through discussion with
the directors and others management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the
Group’s regulatory and legal corespondence and discussed with the directors and other management
the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations. As some of the Group's
components are regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control
environment including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any
indications of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation,
and taxation legislation and pension legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these
laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of
noncompliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for
instance through the imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Group’s compenents license to
operate. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect; anti-bribery,
employment law, regulatory capital and liquidity and certain aspects of company legislation recognising
the financial and regulated nature of the Group’s activities.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and
regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal
correspondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

For the revision of the group financial statements matter discussed in the supplementary note we
assessed disclosures against the requirements of Companies (Revision of Defective Accounts and
Reports) Reguiations 20U%.

Context of the ability of the audii to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected
some material misstatements in the revised financial statements, even though we have properly planned
and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed
noncompliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would
identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal



controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for
preventing noncompliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and
regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Qur opinion on the
revised financial statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider
whether, based on our financial statemcents audit work, e information therein is materially misstated
or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in those reports;

. in our opinion the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the
financial year is consistent with the revised financial statements; and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
refurns; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Other matter - prior period consolidated financial statements

We note that the company did not previously prepare consolidated financial statements. Consequently
ISAs (UK) require the auditor to state that the corresponding figures contained within the consolidated
financial statements are unaudited. Our opinion is not medified in respect of this matter,

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the revised financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of revised financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due tn frand o error; assessing the Group and parent Company s abilily lo continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Under section 454 of the Companies Act 2006 the directors have the authority to revise financial
statements if they do not comply with the Act. The revised financial statements must be amended in
accordance with the Companies (Revision of Defective Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. These
require that the revised financial statements show a true and fair view as if they were prepared and
approved by the directors as at the date of the original financial statements and accordingly do not take
account of events which have taken place after the date on which the original financial statements were
approved.



Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to ublain reasonable assurance about whether the revised financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an
auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
the revised financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The audit of revised financial statements also includes the performance of procedures to assess whether
the revisions made by the directors are appropriate and have been properly made.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and as required by paragraph 7 of the Regulations. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in such an auditor’s report and for ne other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Tl

Timothy Butchart (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

El14 5GL

28 November 2023



Markel International Holdings Limited
Registered Number 11314497

Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

This document constitutes a supplementary note for the purposes of section 454 of the Companies Act
2006 and the Companies (Revision of Defective Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008.

Supplementaly note to the revised financial statements

This supplementary note revises, in certain respects, the original financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 and is to be treated as forming part of those financial statements.

The financial statements have been revised as at the date on which the original financial statements
were approved by the board of directors and not as at the date of the revisions and accordingly do not
deal with events between those dates. The original financial statements failed to comply with the
Companies Act 2006 in as much as the Company had not made reference to section 479A of the
Companies Act in relation to its subsidiary companies being exempt from audit.

The following supplementary note is in addition to, and therefore revises, note 16 of Company financial
statements and replaces the ™ Parent undertaking dedlaration of guarantee under Section 479C of the
Companies Act 2006 disclosure in the original financial statements.

Revision to note 16 of the Company financial statements:

Audit Exemption under Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006

For the year ending 31 December 2022, the following Markel International Holdings Limited subsidiary
companies were entitled to exemption from audit of their individual accounts under section 479A of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary companies.

In accordance with Section 479A of the Companies Act:

1. All members of the subsidiary companies listed below have agreed to the exemption in respect of
the financial year 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022,

2. The parent company (Markel International Holdings Limited) has provided a guarantee in respect
of the financial year 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022, for each of the below companies, under
Section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. This guarantee has the effect that:

e« The parent guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary companies are subject
at the end of the financial year to which the guarantee relates, until they are satisfied in full;
and

« the guarantee is enforceable against the parent undertaking by any person to whom the
subsidiary company is liable in respect of those liabilities.

Company name Company number
Markel Capital Holdings Limited 06722095
Markel International Services Limited 00932977
Markel (UK) Limited T02430992
Caunce O'Hara & Company Limited 03676983
Caunce G'Hara Limited 08426762
Abbey Protection Limited 06352358
Markel Protection Limited 04959808
Markel Consultancy Services Limited 08246256
Alterra Capital UK Limited 05800142
Markel Law LLP 0C325244
Alterra at Lloyd's Limited 03304600

Markel Underwriting Services Limited 03668339



This supplementary note to the revised annual report and consolidated financial statements of Markel
International Holdings Limited (Registered Number 11314497} has been approved by the Board and is
signed on its behalf by:

Andrew J Davies
Director
London

28 November 2023



